

NOTICE OF CONNECTICUT STATE AGENCIES

Connecticut Housing Finance Authority

Notice of Intent to Amend Procedures

In accordance with Section 1-121 of the Connecticut General Statutes, NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Connecticut Housing Finance Authority proposes to amend its Procedures:

Statement of Purpose:

To amend the Procedures of the Authority, specifically Section II, “Rental Housing”, and Section IV, “Tax Credit Programs” (collectively the “Multifamily Procedures”), as described below.

Summary of Proposed Procedures Change:

The Multifamily Procedures are being amended to provide greater flexibility in its daily functions as well as to enhance its readiness to respond to changes in the market in a more timely fashion specifically with respect to the following existing Sections:

Section II: Rental Housing

- Subsection A: Multifamily Rental Housing Program
- Subsection B: Multifamily Asset Management
- Subsection C: Special Programs

Section IV: Tax Credit Programs

- Subsection A: Low-Income Housing Tax Credit
- Subsection C: Housing Tax Credit Contribution Program

Copies of the proposed amended Procedures may be obtained by visiting www.chfa.org. All interested persons may submit written data, views and arguments in connection with the above-stated proposed Procedures by email to PublicComment@chfa.org or by mail to the attention of Jenna Zaikarite, Connecticut Housing Finance Authority, 999 West Street, Rocky Hill, Connecticut 06067 no later than 30 days after the publication of this notice.

REDLINE COPY

II
RENTAL HOUSING
A. MULTIFAMILY RENTAL HOUSING PROGRAM

A-1. Housing Affordability and Applications

In furtherance of its mission to alleviate the shortage of affordable housing for low and moderate income families and persons in Connecticut, the Authority responds to all inquiries regarding multifamily rental housing developments.

(a) Within available resources depending on funding sources and to the extent practicable, multifamily rental housing developments should create affordable housing to serve a mix of incomes, ~~inclusive of households with incomes at or less than sixty percent (60%), fifty percent (50%) and thirty percent (30%) of the area median income (“AMI”) adjusted for family size, as determined by the U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”)~~, though all development types shall be considered.

(b) A CHFA-DOH Consolidated Application (the “~~ConApp~~application”), ~~in its most recent form~~, shall be completed and submitted by an applicant seeking financing. Each applicant’s ~~ConApp~~application will be screened to determine if it conforms with and satisfies the following:

- (1) State of Connecticut and Authority policy objectives;
- (2) preliminary threshold requirements established by the Authority, subject to further review;
- (3) Authority-established eligibility standards set for all applicants; and
- (4) demonstrated need and/or demand.

(c) Upon the Authority’s request, clarification of ~~ConApp~~application submissions must be provided to the Authority’s satisfaction before a financing proposal may be considered for approval.

(d) The Authority ~~shall create~~~~will publish~~ a ~~fee~~ schedule of fees and costs associated with application and financing. Other applicable fees and costs not included in this schedule may be required~~include the commissioning of appraisals, market studies and environmental assessments as necessary~~.

(e) The Authority may require physical access to the proposed development site in determining the feasibility of the financing request.

A-2. Qualified Development Team

(a) The development team shall include the developer(s), general contractor(s), architect(s), property manager(s) and any other parties deemed by the Authority to be necessary for the completion and/or operation of the proposed multifamily rental development.

(b) ~~Each~~As required by the Authority, each member of the development team shall be licensed and/or registered to do business in the State~~state~~ of Connecticut.

(c) The Authority shall determine whether the members of the development team are qualified (the "Qualified Development Team"). When determining whether a development team is qualified, ~~the team's track record, the Authority may assess, without limitation, the team's development and operational history for comparable and completed developments,~~ financial capacity, and relevant experience in multifamily housing finance, development, construction, management, and resident services ~~will be taken into account. Development team members may be asked to report past experience with affordable housing programs, including financial performance of individual developments, any removals as general partner, defaults under project documents, failures to receive IRS Form 8609, or project foreclosures.~~

(d) During the developmental and operational stages, a~~A~~ proposed change and/or substitution of any previously approved member of the Qualified Development Team ~~previously accepted by the Authority~~ shall be submitted in writing to the Authority and shall by the applicant/mortgagor, such change/substitution will require the prior written consent of the Authority.

(e) All applicants shall sign an "Identity of Interest" statement disclosing relationships among members of the proposed development team. The statement shall attest to the relationship, if any, of all persons and/or entities benefitting financially from the multifamily rental housing development. When an identity of interest exists, the Authority reserves the right to evaluate and accept or reject the cost reasonableness of that service and/or work to be performed.

A-3. Credit Evaluation

(a) The Authority may conduct a credit investigation to ascertain and ensure that the proposed development team possesses sufficient financial capacity and is capable of completing and operating the proposed multifamily rental housing development. The Authority shall determine the extent of such credit investigation.

(b) An applicant shall furnish a listing of any general partners, managing members or principal shareholders of the developer/sponsor entity and the proposed owner/mortgagor entity, the general contractor, and property management agent, as required by the Authority.

A-4. Affirmative Action

Each mortgagor and its contractors, subcontractors, and management agents shall agree to comply with federal and state executive orders, statutes, regulations, and other requirements of law relating to affirmative action and equal employment opportunity.

A-5. Return on Equity

(a) The mortgagor's equity in a multifamily rental housing development shall be as defined in Section 8-253a(5), as may be amended, of the Connecticut General Statutes, incorporating project costs certified by the mortgagor and recognized by the Authority, whether or not such costs have been paid in cash or in a form other than cash, and the total amount of the mortgage loans and/or grant proceeds.

(b) A loan to a mortgagor, having as one of its purposes the construction or rehabilitation of housing, shall be subject to an agreement between the Authority and the mortgagor limiting the mortgagor and its principals, stockholders, partners and/or members to such return on the mortgagor's equity as may be established or permitted by the Authority. The non-cumulative cash return on equity shall be determined at the Authority's discretion and to the extent economically feasible.

A-6. Related Facilities

The Authority may provide financing for related facilities in accordance with Section 8-243(d) as may be amended of the Connecticut General Statutes, which defines "related facilities" as commercial, office, health, welfare, administrative, recreational, community, and service facilities incidental and pertinent to multifamily rental housing as determined by the Authority. If any related facility is to be leased, then the Authority shall have the right to disapprove any proposed use, tenant, or provision of the lease.

A-7. Market Study

(a) The Authority ~~may require~~requires an independent, professional market study on all multifamily rental housing developments being considered for CHFA mortgage financing and/or issuance of Low--Income Housing Tax Credits ("LIHTCs" or "LIHTC"). If a development being considered for financing has a project-based rental assistance commitment or contract in place for the entire development, then the Authority may determine that the market analysis required as part of the prospective appraisal valuation required under Sec. A-8 will be sufficient so as to not require a separate market study.

(b) If the Authority determines that a separate market study is required, then the Authority shall commission a market analysis from an approved list of market analysts developed and maintained by the Authority. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, the applicant shall make full payment for the market study(ies), in advance, which payment is nonrefundable should the applicant's financing proposal not be approved by the Authority. The market study shall be prepared according to industry standards and within contract terms established by the Authority.

(c) For developments seeking an issuance of LIHTC but no financing from ~~the Authority~~CHFA, ~~the Authority~~CHFA reserves the right to ~~utilize~~accept a market analysis that has been completed by an analyst not on the Authority's approved list but has been reviewed and accepted by Authority staff prepared to CHFA's standards by an acceptable, alternative analyst not on CHFA's approved list.

(d) The Authority reserves the right to require current market information prior to approval of its financing.

A-8. Appraisal

(a) Independent, professional "as-is" and "to-be-developed" appraisals ~~may be~~ required for all multifamily rental housing developments being considered for mortgage financing by the Authority. Also, the Authority may require appraisals when financing with non-amortizing ~~Authority~~ ~~CHFA~~ debt, debt ~~restructuring~~ ~~restructures~~ or other special situations.

(b) The Authority ~~may~~ ~~shall~~ commission an appraisal from an approved list of appraisers developed and maintained by the Authority. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, the applicant shall make full payment for the appraisal(s), in advance, which payment is nonrefundable should the applicant's financing proposal not be approved by the Authority. The appraisal shall be prepared according to industry standards and within contract terms established by the Authority. The Authority may accept another lender's appraisal in certain circumstances such as LIHTC transactions that are not financed with ~~the Authority~~ ~~CHFA~~.

(c) The Authority reserves the right to exercise discretion ~~in commissioning~~ ~~to require~~ an appraisal and/or ~~modifying~~ ~~modify~~ its appraisal requirements as may be practical given the circumstances of each transaction.

(d) The Authority reserves the right to require additional appraisals or to commission review appraisals at the applicant's expense.

A-9. Underwriting Standards

The Authority shall establish loan underwriting standards in the following areas and may review and revise the standards as market and economic conditions ~~require and/or when programmatic requirements exist~~ ~~dietate~~.

(1) Debt Service Coverage ("DSC") - The minimum coverage for all uninsured multifamily rental housing loans ~~shall be 1.15x or its equivalent (as determined by the Authority) for a period deemed necessary by the Authority, but in no event less than one year. is 1.15. For USDA properties and FHA insured loans, minimum coverage shall be 1.10 or the USDA/FHA standard, whichever is higher.~~ For programs or financing that fund housing development for the homeless, special needs populations, restructures or if there is no permanent amortizing debt, the DSC may be reduced at the Authority's discretion.

~~(1) — Determination of Value —~~

~~(a) — The "as is" market value established in the Authority commissioned independent appraisal shall be one, but not necessarily the only, consideration used to determine the value of the subject property in relation to its proposed acquisition cost.~~

~~(b) — The "to be developed" prospective value established in the Authority commissioned independent appraisal shall be considered in determining the potential underwriting risk to the Authority during the term of its financing.~~

(2) Loan to Value (“LTV”) - The LTV may not exceed eighty percent (80%) of the appraised prospective value or the Authority’s estimated total lending cost as recognized by the Authority. As determined by the Authority in its discretion, (i) the LTV may be increased to further public and/or Authority objectives, and (ii) for applicants with not-for-profit sponsors, financing may occur at a higher LTV percentage. For the purpose of this section, a loan is defined as that which is self-amortizing. ~~In transactions with federal HUD Housing Finance Agency Risk Sharing mortgage insurance where the Authority is assuming less than fifty percent (50%) of the risk (Level II Risk), HUD standards for Loan to Cost, DSC, and underwritten occupancy limits will prevail, subject to applicable law.~~—The Authority may, in its discretion, exempt applicants/mortgagors with not-for-profit developers/sponsors, regardless of the number of apartments in the multifamily rental housing development, from and/or modify the requirements of this subsection.

(3) Total Development Cost (“TDC”) - The total multifamily rental housing development cost shall be based on the Authority’s analysis, including but not limited to, time, construction and acquisition costs, reserve and soft costs, extraordinary features, location, public purpose and type of sponsor/developer.

~~For construction costs, the Authority may select and commission an independent professional cost analysis. The applicant shall make full payment for the independent cost analysis, in advance, which payment is nonrefundable should the applicant’s financing proposal not be approved by the Authority.~~

(4) Vacancy Assumptions - Underwriting vacancy rate assumptions will be based on the percentage of the AMI of the intended resident population and/or market conditions as of the first stabilized year of operations as determined by the Authority.

(5) Income Trends - To determine the maximum amount of a mortgage loan, income shall be forecasted on an annual basis throughout the term of the proposed mortgage loan, and other documentation and indices may be considered.

(6) Expense Trends - To determine the maximum amount of a mortgage loan, expenses shall be forecasted on an annual basis throughout the term of the proposed mortgage loan and other documentation and indices may be considered. Written documentation approved by the municipality evidencing real estate tax abatements, deferments, or payments in lieu of tax agreements will be required for the Authority to include less than full taxes in its underwriting assumptions. Forecasted annual growth rates for expenses, as specified by the Authority, shall be greater than forecasted annual growth rates for the proposed income sources. The Authority reserves the right to exercise discretion in the expense growth rates.

(7) Maximum Loan Amount - Following consideration of market, location and other applicable conditions, the Authority, in its discretion, shall determine the maximum mortgage loan amount subject to the following: (a) applicable statutory limitations, and (b) LTV or DSC.

~~The maximum amount of a mortgage loan for a multifamily rental housing development is equal to the LEAST of the following based on market, location and other conditions:~~

- ~~(a) — an amount based on applicable statutory limits;~~
- ~~(b) — an amount based on the LTV; or~~
- ~~(c) — an amount based on the DSC.~~

(8) Rent Limitations - ~~Maximum~~ To the extent economically feasible, maximum rents shall be set at levels affordable to the targeted resident income group(s) to be served as determined by applicable state and federal rent limitations and; market analysis to the extent economically feasible ~~and the need to serve low and moderate income residents.~~

(9) Reserve for Replacement - A Reserve for Replacement Account shall be established for each multifamily rental housing development, which account, plus interest or other earnings thereon, shall at all times be under the sole control of the Authority, unless otherwise determined by the Authority. Please also refer to Section II(B) of these Procedures for further discussion of reserves for replacement. With respect to requests for financing, the Authority may, from time to time, require a capital needs assessment report (a "CNA") prepared by an acceptable third-party provider in a format approved by the Authority. ~~In the Authority's discretion, contributions to the Replacement Reserve Account may consist of:~~

~~(a) — annual per unit amounts, which amounts may be increased periodically at rates or in amounts solely determined by the Authority, or~~

~~(b)(a) scheduled annual amounts based upon an Authority approved Capital Needs Assessment (CNA) describing estimated annual capital replacement needs for the multifamily rental housing development for a period as determined by the Authority. The CNA shall be provided by a qualified architect, engineer or other professional approved by the Authority. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, should the Authority elect to commission the CNA, its cost shall be prepaid in full by the applicant which cost shall be nonrefundable should the applicant's financing proposal not be approved by the Authority.~~

(10) Operating Deficit Reserve - The Authority may require a mortgagor to fund an operating deficit reserve in an amount determined and held by the Authority. Such reserve shall be available for the full term of the Authority's mortgage loan to fund operating deficits, real estate taxes, debt service coverage deficiencies and such other costs as solely determined by the Authority to ensure economic viability during the term of its mortgage loan. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, such reserve will be established as of initial closing for Authority financing under terms and conditions of an escrow and disbursement agreement executed between the mortgagor and the Authority. Such deposit shall be in cash or in the form of an irrevocable and unconditional Letter of Credit (LOC) in form and content acceptable to the Authority. The deposit required for the operating deficit reserve may be included within the development budget.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0" + Indent at: 0.5", Tab stops: 0", List tab + 0.5", Left

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.94", Tab stops: Not at 2.38"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.94", First line: 0.5", Numbered + Level: 4 + Numbering Style: a, b, c, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 2.13" + Indent at: 2.38", Tab stops: 1", Left + Not at 2.38" + 5"

(11) Type of Financing - Both recourse and non-recourse financing may be provided, as determined by the Authority. Non-recourse mortgage loans ~~may shall~~ become recourse if the mortgagor defaults under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, utilizing the multifamily rental housing development's income and assets for other than operating expenses, debt service or capital improvements permitted under the Authority's loan documents.

~~(12) Mortgage Increase - The Authority may consider an increase in the amount of its mortgage loan if such increase is due to unforeseen and unavoidable circumstances beyond the mortgagor's control, or to correct a government mandated condition or to further Authority or other public policy objectives. No mortgage loan may be increased without the receipt and acceptance of an updated and credible financing plan re-underwritten by the Authority to the Authority's current standards and criteria.~~

(12) Developer Allowance/Fee ("DAF") - To the extent economically feasible, the DAF ~~shall will~~ be comprised of two parts: a "Deferred DAF Portion" and a "~~Paid DAF Portion~~" ~~paid portion~~. The Deferred DAF Portion is the portion of the total approved DAF amount to be ~~deferred pledged back~~ by the mortgagor to complete the multifamily rental housing development, as may be permitted by the Authority and as further described in subsection ~~(1345)~~ below. ~~The Authority shall publish, from time to time, DAF requirements and limitations, provided, however, in no event shall the DAF exceed 15% of TDC (as defined, without DAF, in subsection (3) above) with respect to any multifamily rental housing development. The paid portion of the DAF will be calculated on the sliding scale as shown below, or as determined by the Authority:~~

- ~~(a) — 15.0% of the first \$5 Million of total construction and soft costs, plus~~
- ~~(b) — 12.5% of the next \$5 Million of total construction and soft costs, plus~~
- ~~(c) — 10.0% of the next \$5 Million of total construction and soft costs, plus~~
- ~~(d) — 7.5% of the next \$5 Million of total construction and soft costs, plus~~
- ~~(e) — 5.0% of the next \$5 Million of total construction and soft costs, plus~~
- ~~(f) — 2.5% of total construction and soft costs over \$25 Million —~~

~~Notwithstanding the foregoing, the DAF (including the Deferred DAF Portion) shall not exceed 15% of the Total Development Cost, as identified in subsection (4) above without the DAF. For developments involving the preservation of expiring use developments or recapitalization of existing affordable housing, the paid portion of the DAF shall be the sum of 5% of the Acquisition Price of the development (less reserves and any seller financing) and 10% of the Total Construction and Soft Costs to a maximum of \$2.5 million, as determined by the Authority.~~

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, developments determined by the Authority to not be utilizing scarce public resources shall be entitled to a Paid DAF Portion ~~DAF~~ equal to 15% of TDC ~~the Total Development Costs identified in subsection (4) above.~~

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Body Text, Right: 0.08", Don't add space between paragraphs of the same style, No widow/orphan control, Tab stops: 0.5", Left

Formatted: Not Highlight

Formatted: Highlight

(13) Deferred Developer Allowance/Fee (“Deferred DAF Portion”) - The Authority may permit a portion of the total approved DAF amount to be ~~deferred~~~~pledged back~~ by the mortgagor to complete the multifamily rental housing development. For the purposes of assessing initial application feasibility, the ~~pledged back or~~ deferred amount should not exceed the lesser of: (a) fifty percent (50%) of the Authority-approved total paid DAF as of initial closing, or (b) the amount that may be fully recovered by the mortgagor, without interest, from Authority-approved annual distributions during the first fifteen (15) years of operations. The final Deferred DAF Portion shall be sized at the Authority’s discretion and approval and may exceed these limitations with the consent of the investor’s limited partner in the transaction.

(14) Loan Term and Rate - The permanent loan term may be up to forty (40) years, with prepayment subject to the terms of these Procedures and the Connecticut General Statutes. The interest rate may be fixed or variable, as determined by the Authority. ~~Subject to statutory requirements, debt subordinated to Authority financing may be allowed on a case-by-case basis and may be in the form of an unsecured or secured loan, as determined and approved by the Authority.~~

(15) Mortgage Insurance - In the Authority’s discretion, mortgage insurance or other forms of credit enhancement may be required.

(16) Consultants - Should an applicant/mortgagor elect to retain a housing development consultant ~~or~~ resident training consultant, ~~or other such consulting services~~, then the fees of such consultants shall be excluded from the development budget. At the option of the applicant/ mortgagor, such consultants may be compensated from the Authority-approved DAF. The Authority shall publish guidelines from time to time setting forth guidelines regarding consultant compensation.

(17) General Contractor Overhead and Profit and General Requirements –

(a) Overhead should not exceed two percent (2%) and profit should not exceed six percent (6%) of the total costs for site and building improvements in the construction contract; i.e., Divisions 2 through 16 of the construction contract documents.

(b) General Requirements, exclusive of bond premium costs, if applicable, should not exceed six percent (6%) of the total costs for site and building improvements in the construction contract; i.e., Divisions 2 through 16 of the construction contract documents.

(c) At the Authority’s discretion, the maximum percentage amounts paid to a general contractor for overhead and profit may exceed eight percent (8%) and for general requirements may exceed six percent (6%) provided, however, that the transaction is not subject to HUD/FHA limitations due to financing, a HUD Subsidy Layering Review, FHA Risk-Share insurance, etc. and the total amount paid to a general contractor for overhead, profit and general requirements does not exceed a cumulative total of fourteen percent (14%). For developments with construction costs of less than \$2,500,000, the Authority may limit the combined value of the general contractor or construction manager overhead, profit and general requirements to 16% of the cost of the work, excluding payment and performance bonds and building permits.

(d) Fees may be further limited for related parties or identities of interest or at the

discretion of the Authority.

(18) Syndication Costs - The costs of syndication shall not exceed an amount acceptable to the Authority. Syndication costs include all direct and indirect costs incurred in securing syndication proceeds; e.g., any fee paid to the syndicator, as well as the mortgagor's legal costs associated with securing syndication proceeds.

(19) Syndication Proceeds or Bridge Loan Financing - Funds derived from the syndication of federal Low-Income Housing Tax Credits and/or federal and state Historic Tax Credits must be available either from the syndication proceeds or bridge loan financing in an amount, with terms, and in a manner satisfactory to the Authority. If there is an identity of interest between the lender and either the syndicator, the mortgagor, or the developer, then the rate must be a commercially reasonable rate as determined by the Authority. The interest cost of financing the DAF shall not be recognized, provided that the Authority may grant an exception in the case of a DAF for a mortgagor with a non-profit sponsor.

(20) Restrictive Covenant - All multifamily rental housing developments shall have a restrictive covenant identifying the term and structure of affordability limitations which may require the development to be monitored by the Authority and/or its authorized agent or contractor.

(21) Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing - All mortgagors shall execute the Authority's form of an affirmative fair housing marketing plan, which may be included as part of the Authority's management agreement.

(22) Small, Minority and Women-Owned Businesses - The mortgagor and general contractor for all developments obtaining Authority-provided financing shall execute minority hiring, affirmative action and non-discrimination and equal employment opportunity documents, as required by the Authority.

(23) Subordinated Debt – Subject to applicable statutory requirements, any financing subordinated to Authority financing may be allowed on a case-by-case basis, as determined by the Authority.

Formatted: Underline

Formatted: No underline

(24) Additional Underwriting Considerations - Financing proposals considered undesirable by the Authority will not be approved. Characteristics of undesirable financing proposals include, but are not limited to, the following: (a) those submitted by applicants with non-performing loans or obligations with the Authority or any governmental agency; (b) those submitted by applicants that have misused the Authority or any governmental loan and/or grant proceeds; (c) those submitted by entities whose principals are principals of other entities which are either currently delinquent on Authority or any governmental loans or obligations, or have a history of monetary delinquency or default of any nature; (d) not in the public interest; (e) applications for Authority bridge loan financing not associated with other Authority financing; (f) applications for the sole purpose of making interest payments to the Authority, any governmental agency or another lender; (g) applications for multifamily rental housing developments that lack sufficient financial commitments, acceptable to the Authority, to maintain a balanced sources and uses of funds; and (h) collateralized with security of unproven or questionable marketability.

If the Authority determines that any of the above underwriting standards are not satisfied and/or the multifamily rental housing development is financially infeasible, then the applicant/mortgagor will be notified in writing and the processing of the application will cease.

A-10. Approval and Issuance of a Loan Commitment

Upon recommendation of Authority staff, the proposal for mortgage financing ~~shall be~~ submitted to the Authority's Mortgage Committee of the Board of Directors for its consideration ~~and upon~~. ~~Upon~~ consideration by the Mortgage Committee, a financing proposal may be referred to the Board of Directors for its consideration. If a financing resolution is adopted by the Board of Directors, then ~~the Authority may enter into a loan commitment with the applicant setting forth the terms of the financing and required fees.~~

~~(a) the loan commitment is issued and forwarded to the applicant; and~~

~~(b) the applicant must sign and return the loan commitment with the noted requirements and fee within the stated time.~~

~~The terms and conditions upon which the Authority will make its mortgage loan shall be contained in the loan commitment. The loan commitment shall be effective for a period set forth therein.~~ Should the Authority's Board of Directors not adopt a financing resolution for the multifamily rental housing development, the applicant shall be notified in writing and processing of the application will cease.

A-11. Initial Closing

~~Prior to an initial mortgage closing, the Authority shall require that the proposed mortgagor deliver to the Authority all appropriate mortgage loan closing documentation and due diligence deemed by the Authority to be necessary and/or appropriate to insure that the proposed multifamily rental housing development shall be completed and operated in accordance with the Authority's requirements and that the Authority mortgage loan shall perform in accordance with the Authority and Authority Board of Director approval requirements. The Authority requirements may include, without limitation, final plans and specifications, a construction contract in accordance with industry standards, assurance of completion, a construction schedule, a construction trade payment breakdown of materials and labor costs, all required governmental approval(s), regulatory agreement(s), mortgage loan documentation, mortgagee title insurance, a property survey, an architect agreement in accordance with industry standards, a management agreement, a management plan, a marketing plan, a tenant selection plan, an environmental assessment or review, insurance coverage(s), evidence of subsidies and other development financial assistance and/or mortgage loan disbursement and loan advance financial exhibits.~~

~~Prior to the advance of any proceeds to the mortgagor from the mortgage loan, the Authority shall require that the mortgagor deliver to the Authority the fully executed mortgage deed, note, and other documents required by the loan commitment or deemed by the Authority to be necessary or appropriate to assure that the multifamily rental housing development shall be completed and operated in accordance with the Authority's requirements. The Authority shall require that the mortgagor deliver to the Authority the following in a form and upon terms acceptable to and approved by the Authority, in its sole and absolute discretion.~~

Formatted: Tab stops: 0.5", Left

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5", Tab stops: 0.75", Left + Not at 0.5"

~~(a) Construction Contract — A construction contract with the general contractor or construction manager acceptable to the Authority, including not less than a one year warranty for construction defects.~~

~~(b) Assurance of Completion — A mortgagor or its general contractor shall provide a 100% Payment and 100% Performance Bond; or LOC acceptable to the Authority; or other security including, without limitation, cash escrow arrangements, satisfactory to the Authority to ensure completion of the multifamily rental housing development. If a LOC is provided, the issuer must be licensed in the state of Connecticut and have at the time of issuance, replacement, substitution or renewal, a rating acceptable to the Authority in its discretion. Except as otherwise agreed by the Authority, the LOC shall be unconditional, irrevocable and transferable by the Authority at no cost to the Authority; name the Authority as beneficiary; permit multiple draws; and be governed by Connecticut law and subject to Uniform Customs and Practices for Documentary Credits.~~

~~(c) Governmental Approvals — All building and other permits, licenses, waivers, variances, and approvals necessary for the construction or rehabilitation of the multifamily rental housing development.~~

~~(d) Title Policy — A mortgagee's title policy in the amount of the mortgage loan, with a company acceptable to the Authority, containing endorsements as may be required by the Authority, and no exceptions other than those approved by the Authority.~~

~~(e) Property Survey — A currently dated Property Survey within the standards of Class A-2 in accordance with the current Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for ALTA/ACSM Land Title Surveys, jointly established and adopted by ALTA/NSPS, applicable sections of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies, and "Standards for Surveys and Maps for the State of Connecticut" as adopted by the Connecticut Association of Land Surveyors, Inc.. Surveys shall be certified to the Authority and indicate all existing buildings and improvements, lot and building lines, encroachments, watercourses, wetlands, significant topographical features, easements, zoning classification, and other pertinent information required by the Authority.~~

~~(f) Architect Agreement — An executed standard AIA Owner/Architect Agreement with standard supplemental conditions, with the design architect and supervising architect, together with evidence of professional liability insurance coverage in amounts established by the Authority for each multifamily rental housing development.~~

~~(g) Management Agreement — An executed management agreement in form provided by the Authority. A management plan, marketing plan and tenant selection plan shall be submitted by an applicant/mortgagor and accepted by the Authority prior to execution of the management agreement.~~

~~(h) — Construction Costs — A complete cost breakdown prepared and signed by the general contractor and mortgagor and from such other contractors and material suppliers as the Authority may require.~~

~~(i) — Financial Exhibits — The Development Budget (all uses of funds), and other exhibits as the Authority may require for completion of the multifamily rental housing development shall be prepared and signed by the mortgagor and accepted and signed by the Authority.~~

~~(j) — Construction Schedule — Construction Progress Schedule and Draw Schedule prepared~~

and signed by the general contractor, and accepted by the Authority.

~~(k) — Opinion Letters — The mortgagor and/or other parties as the Authority may require, shall submit an opinion prepared by its attorney for review and acceptance by the Authority.~~

~~(l) — Environmental Assessments — A Phase I environmental site assessment in form and in content satisfactory to the Authority and issued by an entity licensed in Connecticut. In the event the Authority determines it necessary or appropriate, a mortgagor shall obtain a Phase II or any other additional environmental reports in form and content satisfactory to the Authority and issued by an entity licensed in Connecticut.~~

~~(m) — Insurance — Insurance policies providing for such coverage, terms, deductibles, insured parties, and loss payees as the Authority may require.~~

~~(n) — Utilities — Assurance of the availability and sufficiency of utilities.~~

~~(o) — Declaration of Restrictive Covenants — Agreement to expend not less than such percentage of the proceeds of the mortgage loan for the acquisition or reconstruction of residential real property as may be required by the Authority to ensure that any interest on bonds, bond anticipation notes, and other obligations issued by the Authority remains exempt from taxation.~~

~~(p) — Building Loan Agreement — Agreement that advances of mortgage proceeds shall be made no more frequently than once per month without prior written approval of the Authority.~~

~~(q) — Evidence of Subsidy(ies), Grants, Abatements, or Other Assistance — Documents satisfactory to the Authority evidencing the commitment of any federal, state, or local government, or agency thereof, to provide any insurance, subsidy, grant, tax abatement or other assistance for the benefit of the proposed multifamily rental housing development.~~

~~(r) — Others — Any other conditions contained in the loan commitment letter.~~

A-12. Construction Period

(a) The Authority ~~may~~shall retain a third-party, independent field observer at the mortgagor's expense who shall monitor construction progress and attend project job meetings, on a schedule to be determined by the Authority. The cost of the field observer is an eligible development cost~~a mortgagable expense~~ and may be included in the development budget~~Development Budget~~.

~~(b) The Authority will process and fund one advance request per month, unless otherwise agreed to by the Authority.~~ Mortgage loan proceeds shall be advanced and disbursed to the mortgagor as construction/ renovation progresses, the time and amount of each advance to be at the sole discretion and upon the estimation of the Authority in relation to the percentage of the work in place, subject to conditions described by the Authority.

A-13. Substantial Completion/Permission to Occupy

(a) The mortgagor shall notify the Authority in writing when the mortgagor's supervising architect determines that substantial completion of the multifamily rental housing development has been achieved.

(b) The mortgagor shall prepare permission to occupy form(s) provided by the Authority and submit such form(s) to the Authority together with the supervising architect's punch list and a copy of the certificate of occupancy. Based upon the date of the certificate of occupancy and

recommendations of the Authority's staff, the Authority shall establish a permission to occupy date and advise the mortgagor of such date. Depending upon the multifamily rental housing development's configuration and construction schedule, more than one permission to occupy form may be required and multiple permission to occupy dates may be established.

A-14. Cost Certification

The mortgagor and its general contractor shall have cost certifications audited by their respective certified public accountants. The mortgagor shall submit its and the general contractor's cost certifications to the Authority for review and acceptance in accordance with the timeframe set forth in the guideline. Upon acceptance by the Authority of the mortgagor's and general contractor's cost certifications, the Authority shall prepare a Maximum Mortgage Letter to be executed by the mortgagor and the Authority.

A-15. Final Closing

~~Each~~ Prior to scheduling a final closing, a mortgagor shall submit all construction, cost certification, financial, LIHTC and mortgage loan documentation required by the Authority in order to satisfy final closing requirements. ~~When all such documentation has been accepted, the Authority shall schedule a final closing, which may take place by correspondence or at the offices of the Authority.~~

~~A-16. Post-Final Closing~~

~~Items to be completed subsequent to final closing shall be completed by a mortgagor by the date recited in an escrow agreement for such purpose executed as of final closing. A supplemental cost certification by both a mortgagor and general contractor shall be submitted as required by the Authority.~~

~~A-16~~17. Waivers, Exemptions and Modifications

(a) The Authority's Board of Directors or the Executive Director may authorize waivers, exemptions and modifications for any requirements that are not mandated by statute or other law. Requests for waivers, exemptions and modifications from applicant/mortgagors shall be in writing. Such waivers, exemptions and modifications may be granted so long as the following apply ~~for the following reasons, including, but not limited to:~~

- (1) service to very low-income households;
- (2) evidence of minimal risk to the Authority;
- (3) no conflicting public policies;
- (4) acceptable financial capacity and proven track record; and/or
- (5) other compelling reasons at the discretion of the Authority's Board of Directors or the Executive Director.

Additionally, approval for such requests may only be granted if the Authority concludes there is sufficient evidence that:

- (6) the enforcement of such provisions provide for exceptional difficulty or unusual hardship not caused by the applicant/mortgagor;
- (7) the benefit to be gained by approving such request clearly outweighs the detriment which will result from enforcement of the requirement;
- (8) approval of such request is in harmony with conserving public health, safety and welfare, and
- (9) approval of such request is in the best interest of the State and/or the Authority.

(b) The Authority's Executive Director may, from time to time, vary Multifamily Rental Housing Program requirements set forth in this Section II(A): (i) in response to federal and/or state legislation/regulations or special program and/or financing initiatives as may be adopted by the Authority's Board of Directors, and (ii) as may be necessary to effectuate the Authority's administration of the federal low-income housing tax credit program and the purposes and requirements set forth in Section IV(A) of the Procedures entitled "Low Income Housing Tax Credit."

(c) Wherever in Section II. A of these Procedures reference is made to the Authority exercising discretion, elimination, waivers, variances and exemptions, such shall be made by the Executive Director or his/her designee based upon consideration of, but not limited to, the following: (1) Such is/are necessary for the development of quality affordable housing; and (2) the considerations listed in [this Section A-16A-17 herein](#).

Rental Housing
Multifamily Rental Housing Program
Revised: ~~7/25/2024~~^{5/28/20}
Adopted: ~~TBD~~^{7/30/20}

B. MULTIFAMILY ASSET MANAGEMENT

B-1. Introduction; Definitions

(a) The primary ~~responsibilities/objectives~~ of the Multifamily Asset Management Department (“Asset Management”) are to: (i) monitor owner compliance with all applicable documents, program regulations, state statutes and the Authority’s policies and procedures, (ii) identify opportunities to minimize the Authority’s risk through the evaluation and oversight of financial sustainability of the portfolios, physical condition and management operations, and (iii) preserve the long term affordability and sustainability of the Authority’s multifamily rental housing development portfolios. ~~preserve existing affordable housing and increase property performance, while minimizing the Authority’s risk and ensuring payment of loans. Asset Management oversees multifamily rental housing developments, mortgage loans and real estate owned (“REO”) properties which have a variety of funding sources and program requirements. Asset Management performs this function by monitoring mortgagor compliance with (i) all applicable Authority legal documents, regulations and program requirements and (ii) the Authority’s policies, as approved by its Board of Directors and the Authority’s procedures.~~ Asset Management oversees two portfolios of properties as identified below:

- (1) “Private Portfolio” means multifamily rental housing developments with original financing provided by or with tax credits issued by the Authority. This includes, without limitation, REO properties which are held by subsidiaries of the Authority. ~~Owners/Mortgagors~~ must comply with all applicable statutory and Authority procedural requirements and policies as well as applicable loan documents, tax credit rules and additional subsidy rules (such as HUD Section 8) and regulatory agreements.
- (2) “State-Sponsored Housing Portfolio” means the housing ~~portfolio/loan~~ transferred from the Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) to the Authority in 2003 in accordance with Section 8-37uu of the Connecticut General Statutes. ~~Owners/Mortgagors and owners with no mortgage~~ must comply with applicable housing ~~loan portfolio~~ program requirements and all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements as well as any applicable loan documents or assistance agreements.

B-2. Tenant-Selection Plans

Each applicant for an Authority multifamily rental housing development mortgage loan shall submit a tenant-selection plan in an Authority-approved format for the Authority’s acceptance. The plan shall comply with the requirements set by applicable state and federal statutes and regulations, including, without limitation, those relating to affirmative fair marketing. Instructions and forms for tenant-selection plans are on the Authority’s website.

B-3. Management Plan, Management Agreement and Management Agent

~~An owner~~An applicant/mortgagor receiving Authority financing for a multifamily housing development must have a management agent, management agreement and management plan that have been accepted by the Authority. If no Authority financing is provided, a management plan or

Formatted: Space Before: 14.4 pt

agreement is not required ~~to be accepted by the Authority.~~

(a) Management Plan

~~(1)~~ The management plan shall describe fully and accurately the proposal for the management of the ~~multifamily~~~~multi-family~~ rental housing development and shall set forth all material ~~circumstances~~~~circumstances~~ or features affecting the multifamily rental housing development. ~~The management plan shall not be effective until accepted by the owner and approved in writing by the Authority. The management plan shall be incorporated into the management agreement.~~ The management plan shall include: ~~(i) a~~ the tenant-selection plan and the following, without limitation by reason of enumeration; ~~(ii) the relationship between the management agent and the~~ owner applicant, including any identity of interest; personal or family relationships; other property management relationships; and any other relationships, whether presently or previously existing; and the management agent's previous management experience with multifamily rental housing developments; ~~(iii) a comprehensive description of the policies and procedures to be followed in the management of multifamily rental housing development, including relating to affirmative fair marketing; and (iv) other documents and matters deemed necessary by the Authority.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 1.45", No bullets or numbering

~~(2)~~ ~~The management plan shall include a comprehensive description of the policies and procedures to be followed in the management of the multifamily rental housing development, including those relating to affirmative fair marketing. The management plan shall not be effective until accepted by the mortgagor and approved in writing by the Authority. The management plan shall be incorporated into the management agreement. Instructions and format for management plans are available on the Authority's website.~~

(b) Management Agreement

The management agreement shall set forth all of the terms, conditions, covenants, and agreements between the ~~owner applicant/mortgagor~~ and the management agent concerning the management of the multifamily rental housing development. The management agreement shall not be effective until executed by the ~~owner applicant/mortgagor~~ and the management agent and accepted in writing by the Authority. Management agent's duties and responsibilities shall be detailed in the management agreement. ~~The term of a management agreement shall not exceed five (5) years.~~

(c) Management Agent

(1) The selection of a proposed management agent shall be subject to the prior ~~written~~ approval of the Authority on an individual property basis. ~~At the time of application for Authority financing, the applicant is required to submit a list of Qualified Development Team members. The proposed management agent must be a qualified member of the development team (see also Section~~

~~A-3 of the procedures). The management agent shall acknowledge that it has reviewed and is familiar with the Authority's mortgage loan closing documents, any mortgage insurance or any subsidy benefiting the proposed multifamily rental housing development, and any state or federal statutes and regulations affecting the management agent's duties and responsibilities.~~

- (2) ~~All changes in management agents shall require the prior written approval of the Authority. In the event of a change in the management agent for any multifamily rental housing development, no replacement management agent may be retained and no management agreement may be executed without the prior written approval of the Authority.~~ If any multifamily rental housing development financed by an Authority multifamily mortgage loan is without a management agent approved by the Authority, the Authority may unilaterally appoint a management agent to perform such functions as are required by the Authority until such time as the owner/mortgagor of the multifamily rental housing development shall appoint a management agent approved in writing by the Authority.
- (3) ~~Compensation to the management agent for performance of its responsibilities under the management agreement shall be~~The management agent shall be compensated for performance of its responsibilities under the management agreement ~~in an amount~~ approved in writing in advance by the Authority. ~~Additional information regarding management agent compensation is available on the Authority's website.~~

B-4. Rent Increases

All proposed rent increases for rent restricted units shall~~must~~ be reviewed and accepted by the Authority in writing in advance and shall be subject to all~~meet the~~ applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

B-5. Performance Assessment

Asset Management shall perform periodic assessments of management and the physical and financial condition of each multifamily rental housing development. The Authority shall determine the level of performance of each multifamily rental housing development based on these assessments~~performs a periodic assessment of each property in the areas of management, physical property condition and financial viability. Based on information received, including financials, and site/unit observations, inspections and, when applicable, reviews by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"), the Authority determines the level of performance of the property. Properties are monitored and evaluated according to performance. Properties experiencing certain issues of concern to the Authority may be placed on a watch list as a higher priority for monitoring. The Authority maintains the watch list to focus staffing resources on properties experiencing some level of distress in order to provide owners/mortgagors with options and/or resources to improve and stabilize the property.~~

B-6. Escrow Reserve Release Process

(a) The Authority ~~shall approve the release~~ ^{2's approval is required for releases} of funds from any escrow accounts held by the Authority ~~subject, including, without limitation, any reserve for replacement escrow account, residual receipts escrow account, general operating reserve escrow account and any other escrow accounts held by the Authority pursuant~~ to mortgage and regulatory requirements. ~~Forms and guidance are available on the Authority's website.~~

(b) If escrow funds to be released are to be applied to capital improvements or repair/replacement work, then the work must be completed in accordance with all applicable building codes, State of Connecticut regulations and the Authority's Standards of Design and Construction. The scope of the Authority's review prior to the approval of any release of escrow funds will be determined by the type of work proposed.

(c) If a property is in ~~monetary~~ default or non-compliance, the Authority may deny a request for release of funds from any escrow account ~~including, but not limited to, releases from any reserve for replacement escrow account, residual receipts escrow account, general operating reserve escrow account.~~ Non-compliance may include, without limitation, failure to submit financial or any other requested reports, failure to return executed management and affirmative fair marketing agreements, or failure to keep the property in decent, safe, and sanitary condition. The Authority reserves the right to deny any request for release from any escrow account where information or documentation does not meet Authority requirements.

B-7. Capital Needs

~~Throughout the operating period, mortgagors/owners~~ ^{Mortgagors} shall be required to ~~evaluate the capital needs~~ ^{complete a capital needs assessment ("CNA")} of the property, to be proactive in identifying capital improvements needed and to anticipate making adjustments to the reserve for replacement escrow account in order to fund such capital improvements. The Authority may, ~~from time to time,~~ require a ~~capital needs assessment~~ ^{CNA} report ~~prepared by an acceptable third-party provider in a format approved by the Authority~~ ^{prior to any Authority financing or refinancing.}

B.8. Low Income Housing Tax Credit ("LIHTC") Program – Post Year 15 Compliance

The Authority maintains a Post ~~Year 15~~ ^{Year 15} Compliance Monitoring Policy for properties allocated LIHTCs by the Authority. The purpose is to ensure compliance with ~~owner/mortgagor~~ obligations set forth in the Extended Low-Income Housing Commitment ("ELIHC") for the multifamily rental housing development, prepared by the Authority. All property owners must comply with all requirements of the LIHTC Program through the expiration date of the ELIHC. CHFA reserves the right to enforce these requirements whether by legal or other equitable action.

C. SPECIAL PROGRAMS

C-1. Small or Emergency Loan Program

(a) The Small or Emergency Loan Program ~~may be~~ offered by the Authority to provide financial assistance to Private Portfolio and State-Sponsored Housing Portfolio owners of multifamily rental housing developments consistent with the purposes of these Procedures and subject to available Authority funding ~~who must make small and/or emergency repairs to their property and do not have sufficient assets to finance them on their own.~~ Such financial assistance may include newly advanced, forgiven or forborne mortgage loan principal and/or interest. Small or Emergency Loans ~~shall be~~ available to owners of existing affordable multifamily rental housing developments ~~within the Authority's portfolio~~ through a streamlined application approval process ~~and shall be.~~ ~~These loans are~~ reviewed and approved by an Authority staffed committee designated by the ~~Executive Director~~ Authority's Board of Directors. All approved loans ~~shall be~~ reported to the Authority's Board of Directors.

(b) Staff responds to inquiries for financing through the Small or Emergency Loan Program. If the applicant is eligible for this program, an application package is provided to the applicant to be completed and returned to the Authority for processing. In the case of financial assistance made for repairs and/or improvements, ~~a~~ written proposal from a contractor for the small and/or emergency repairs must be submitted to and approved by the Authority staff as part of the application process. The applicant is notified of approval or disapproval by the Authority. If the loan is approved, the loan is closed and loan proceeds are disbursed as determined by the Authority.

(c) Limitations for financial assistance provided under the ~~Annual limits for~~ Small or Emergency Loan Programs shall be set by the Authority's Board of Directors.

C-2. Preservation of Housing Affordability Program

(a) Consistent with the Authority's Board of Director's Preservation of Housing Affordability Policy Statement, as adopted from time to time, the purpose of this program is to provide funding to assist in the preservation of the affordability and the sustainability of affordable multifamily rental housing developments, ~~where the affordability and/or subsidies are at risk of being lost. The program is intended to prevent the loss of affordable housing units by:~~

- ~~(1) — Extending low income unit affordability;~~
- ~~(2) — Requiring that properties be maintained to the Authority's quality standards over the long term;~~
- ~~(3) — Ensuring that the Authority's Asset Management oversight is maintained;~~
- ~~(4) — Providing sufficient financial incentive for private owners to maintain existing housing as affordable throughout the term of any new financing; and,~~
- ~~(5) — Ensuring that funds continue to be provided for additional affordable housing~~

~~by maintaining income due to the Authority.~~

~~(b) Eligible applicants include any owner that meets the Authority's criteria as a qualified owner. Applicants may apply any time during the calendar year and, upon application approval, funding will be provided until funds designated for the program have been fully expended. Applicants may remain eligible for funding for up to one additional year if the application has been determined to be satisfactory for approval, but current funds designated for the program have been fully expended. Eligible applicant may be required to pay a fee to the Authority for processing the application and providing funding assistance.~~

C-3. Multifamily ~~Troubled~~ Debt Restructuring Program

(a) ~~Because multifamily rental housing developments financed by the Authority may experience financial distress as a result of factors relating to the economic climate of the State and financial difficulties of a mortgagor and/or a multifamily rental housing development, the Authority has established a program by which multifamily rental housing developments experiencing such financial distress can seek restructuring of the Authority financing. Through this program the Authority will evaluate whether the multifamily rental housing development should be considered for such restructuring, and determine under what conditions, if any, the Authority might consider temporary or permanent mortgage restructuring which the Authority would not otherwise approve. The Multifamily ~~Troubled~~ Debt Restructuring Program shall establishes criteria from time to time by which the Authority may assist multifamily rental housing developments to achieve financial stability in accordance with its statutory mandate and financial obligations.~~

(b) The Authority shall not restructure any loan unless it is determined by the Authority, in its discretion, to be in the best interest of the Authority and in compliance with these ~~Procedures~~procedures. ~~Proposals will not be considered if, in the sole determination of the Authority, the multifamily rental housing development's financial distress is caused by mismanagement. In connection with any such restructure, and provided the Authority has received a restructure proposal deemed by the Authority to be consistent with the purposes of this Section and these Procedures, the Executive Director may extend any existing loan maturity for a period not to exceed 12 months.~~

(c) These ~~Procedures~~procedures create no right or entitlement in any mortgagor to a restructuring of the Authority's existing financial assistance, and the Authority shall not be prevented from exercising any of its rights under existing loan documents by reason of a request for ~~or approval of~~ a mortgage restructuring in accordance with these ~~Procedures~~procedures.

(d) Any mortgagor of a multifamily rental housing development in the Authority's portfolio which is experiencing financial distress ~~due to circumstances beyond the mortgagor's control and beyond the financial ability of the mortgagor to correct or mitigate~~, may contact the Authority to request its assistance ~~by contacting CHFA's Multifamily Asset Management department. The mortgagor shall provide a general description of the nature of the financial distress, an explanation of the reasons for the distress and the mortgagor's proposal for relief.~~

Rental Housing

Multifamily Asset Management – Special Programs

Revised: ~~7/25/2024~~7/25/13

Adopted: ~~TBD~~10/31/13

IV

TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS

A. LOW-INCOME HOUSING TAX CREDIT

The Connecticut Housing Finance Authority (the “Authority” or “CHFA”) administers the federal Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) Program for the State of Connecticut (the “State”). The LIHTC Program is a housing program authorized under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), and is administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. These Procedures govern the allocation, reservation and the compliance monitoring required by the LIHTC Program.

~~In order to administer the LIHTC Program, CHFA has established additional governing materials as described in the Authority’s Qualified Allocation Plan (as adopted from time to time, the “QAP”). The Authority’s Board of Directors has full discretion to independently review and decline to award any LIHTC application in accordance with the QAP. Other governing material includes, without limitation, the Authority’s Procedures Part II. Rental Housing—A. Multifamily Rental Housing Program; policies, including CHFA Board policy statements; program materials, including the Qualified Allocation Plan (the “QAP”), the CHFA/DOH Consolidated Application (“ConApp” or “application”), the LIHTC general information, all associated guidelines, and CHFA’s current Multifamily Design, Construction and Sustainability Standards, collectively referred to herein as “Administrative Requirements”. The Authority’s Board of Directors may reject any LIHTC application which, in its independent determination, fails to meet the requirements articulated in the QAP.~~

A-1. LIHTC Allocation

~~The 9% LIHTC allocation process shall be as set forth in the QAP and may be conducted on the basis of a competitive annual funding round. Generally, the 4% LIHTC funding allocation process may be conducted on the basis of an open application process, *provided, however, a* Notice of Funding Availability (“NOFA”) may be issued for competitive allocations, unless otherwise specified, subject to policy objectives and administrative requirements of the Authority. The Authority’s Executive Director, or other authorized officer, shall establish a schedule for LIHTC funding rounds. LIHTC applications shall be accepted subject to published deadlines and/or the 9% LIHTC funding allocation process. All LIHTC applications shall be evaluated and rated in accordance with the QAP in effect at the time of application submission.~~

~~(a) Application Resubmissions. Any applicant whose LIHTC application is unsuccessful in a funding round may resubmit that application in a subsequent funding round. The completed resubmitted application must satisfy the requirements established in the applicable QAP. An application fee shall be required for each 9% application submission. If a resubmitted application is unsuccessful, any subsequent application contemplated must include material improvements, as determined by CHFA in its sole discretion.~~

~~(b) Forward Allocations. 9% LIHTC allocations in any calendar year will be limited to the LIHTC State housing credit ceiling for that calendar year, as determined in accordance~~

Formatted: Justified, Indent: Left: 0"

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Normal, Indent: First line: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Indent: First line: 0.5", No bullets or numbering

with the Code (as amended), *provided, however,* with the approval of the Authority's Board of Directors, the Authority may make awards or reservations for the purpose of forward allocations from future year LIHTC State housing credit ceilings.

Formatted: Font: Italic

Formatted: Font: Italic

A-2. Qualified Allocation Plan

The LIHTC Program requires each state responsible for allocating the LIHTCs to approve a plan for the allocation of the credits that is relevant to that state's housing needs and is consistent with that state's housing priorities. The QAP is the plan for the State ~~that. The QAP~~ establishes guidelines and procedures for the acceptance, scoring and competitive ranking of LIHTC applications for each funding round.

The QAP is reviewed and modified periodically to ensure that it continues to meet the affordable housing needs and the priorities of CHFA and the State ~~and as articulated in the State of Connecticut Consolidated Plan for Housing and Community Development, Conservation and Development Policies: The Plan for Connecticut, and the Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice 2015. The QAP is also modified periodically~~ to incorporate any revisions to the Code, State regulations, and relevant industry best practices.

When changes are proposed for an existing QAP, the Authority ~~shall publish~~ publishes the draft QAP reflecting such changes and ~~shall conduct~~ conducts hearing(s) to allow for public review and comment. After consideration of all comments received during the public review period, the Authority's staff ~~shall submit~~ submits a recommended draft QAP to the Authority's Board of Directors for its consideration and approval. After the draft QAP is approved by the Authority's Board of Director's, the QAP ~~shall be~~ is forwarded to the Governor for approval.

Formatted: Font: 12 pt

A-32. Submission and Eligibility

A ConApp ~~(as defined in these Procedures), in its most recent form,~~ shall be completed and submitted by an applicant seeking LIHTC ~~tax credits~~. Unless otherwise specified herein, reference to "LIHTC" application shall mean 4% and/or 9% LIHTC applications. Each LIHTC application shall be evaluated pursuant to the QAP in effect on the date of application and the Code. The completed application package must satisfy the requirements set forth in the QAP (the "Basic Threshold Requirements") ~~set forth in the QAP~~ and the policy objectives and administrative requirements ~~Administrative Requirements~~ of the Authority. In addition to the administrative requirements ~~Administrative Requirements~~ and the Code, 4% tax credit applications may also be subject to requirements published in a NOFA ~~Notice of Funding Availability (NOFA)~~.

The determination of whether the applicant has satisfied all eligibility criteria, ~~and~~ the policy objectives and administrative requirements of the Authority shall be made by the Authority's Executive Director or other authorized officer. The Authority's Executive Director, or other authorized officer, may require or accept additional or alternative evidence that an application satisfies all eligible criteria when it is in the public interest of the Authority, the LIHTC Program, and the housing plans or policies of the State, in their sole discretion.

The Authority requires that LIHTC developments submitted are ready to proceed and anticipates that such developments will achieve projected benchmarks. To that end, the Authority will consider the success of each Applicant in achieving LIHTC Program benchmarks and delivering completed developments ~~in determining along with~~ its capacity to undertake new projects given its existing pipeline. The process for such consideration ~~may shall~~ be discussed with each applicant prior to applicants at the pre-application conference and again at the time of application.

All Applicants shall be required to attend a pre-application conference with Authority staff. Additional information on this process may be found in the Guidelines.

A-43. Processing

Applications must be complete in the Authority's sole determination before a Authority financing proposal may be considered for approval. Upon receipt of a 9% LIHTC application submitted on or before the applicable deadline, staff will determine if it satisfies the required application criteria set forth in the QAP. Any 9% LIHTC application received by the Authority after the application deadline or determined to be incomplete shall be declined. The Authority reserves the right to seek clarification, if necessary. Upon receipt of a 4% LIHTC application, the Authority shall determine if it satisfies the Basic Threshold Requirements in accordance with the QAP.

Formatted: Justified

~~Upon receipt of a 9% LIHTC application submitted on or before the applicable deadline, staff will review the checklist for items submitted and perform an initial review of the 9% LIHTC application to determine if it satisfies the Application Criteria set forth in the QAP and the Authority's policy objectives and Administrative Requirements.~~

~~Any 9% LIHTC applications received by the Authority after the application deadline shall be denied and will be ineligible for 9% LIHTCs in such funding round. Additionally, applicants cannot submit Basic Threshold Requirement items after the application deadline. All applications must be complete at time of submission or will be ineligible for 9% LIHTCs in such funding round. The Authority reserves the right to seek clarification if necessary.~~

~~Upon receipt of a 4% LIHTC application, staff will review the checklist for items submitted and perform an initial review of the 4% LIHTC application to determine if it satisfies the Basic Threshold Requirements set forth in the QAP and the Authority's policy objectives and Administrative Requirements. Applications must be complete in the Authority's sole determination before a financing proposal may be considered for approval. CHFA shall will complete a final determination of program eligibility based on its final underwriting projections prior to initial closing. CHFA reserves the right to re-evaluate LIHTC Program eligibility at any time.~~

A-54. Site Evaluation

The Authority's staff or a designated third party shall conduct a site evaluation to determine if the proposed development site is acceptable and satisfies the criteria of the QAP ~~and the policy objectives and Administrative Requirements of the Authority.~~

A-65. Project Selection Criteria and Ranking Procedures

The Authority shall allocate 9% LIHTCs based upon classifications, the selection criteria and application ranking set forth in the QAP.

~~All applications for LIHTCs shall satisfy the Basic Threshold Requirements set forth in the QAP in order to be eligible. Applications failing to meet the Basic Threshold Requirements set forth in the QAP shall be deemed ineligible.~~

Applications for 9% LIHTCs will be grouped in an application classification~~Application Classification~~ for evaluation as set forth in the QAP. These classifications are used for allocation within a competitive 9% LIHTC round only.

Applications will be evaluated, rated and ranked against the other applications in their respective classifications~~based on the competitive point scoring criteria set forth in the QAP~~. The results of the final evaluation and ranking shall be determined solely by the Authority.

In accordance with the Code, as amended, the Authority shall will establish a set aside~~of 10% of the annual credit ceiling~~ for qualified non-profit applicants, shall determine which applications qualify for that set-aside, and no-Therefore, no more than 90% of the State housing credit ceiling for any calendar year shall be allocated to projects that do not include other than those involving qualified non-profits, as defined in the Section 42(h)(5)(b) of the Code.

A-6.—Funding Rounds

~~The LIHTC allocation process shall be conducted on the basis of open application and annual funding rounds with LIHTCs being allocated to those applications approved by the Authority's Board of Directors. Generally, the 4% LIHTC funding allocation process may be conducted on the basis of an open application process; however, a NOFA may be issued for competitive allocation, unless otherwise specified, subject to policy objectives and Administrative Requirements of the Authority. The 9% LIHTC funding allocation process shall be a competitive one as outlined in the QAP.~~

~~At least annually, the Authority's Executive Director, or other authorized officer, shall establish, and the Authority's Board of Directors shall approve, a schedule for LIHTC funding rounds.~~

~~LIHTC applications will be accepted subject to published deadlines, and the 9% LIHTC funding allocation process, and will be rated pursuant to the QAP within the funding round in which the applications are submitted.~~

- ~~(a) Application resubmissions: Any applicant whose 9% LIHTC application is unsuccessful in the current funding round shall be entitled to an additional resubmission in a subsequent funding round. The completed resubmitted application must satisfy the Application Criteria established in the current QAP and the policy objectives and Administrative Requirements of the Authority. Each applicant shall submit a second application fee. If a resubmitted application is not successful, any subsequent application contemplated must~~

~~include material improvements. CHFA will determine if material improvements are included, in its sole discretion.~~

~~(b) Forward allocations: 9% LIHTC allocations in any calendar year will be limited to the State housing credit ceiling for the calendar year, as determined in accordance with Section 42(h)(3)(C) of the Code; however, with the approval of the Authority's Board of Directors, the Authority may commit to reserve all or a portion of subsequent year's estimated population component of the total State housing credit ceiling, as described in Section 42(h)(3)(C) of the Code.~~

A-7. Tax Credit Reservation

Approved 9% LIHTC applications will receive a reservation of tax credits (each a "Tax Credit Reservation"), which must be executed by the applicant and returned to the Authority within the time period stated therein, ~~along with a portion of the Tax Credit Servicing Fee. The Authority shall determine the amount and timing for remittance of a tax credit servicing fee.~~ A Tax Credit Reservation shall not be deemed is not an allocation in accordance with~~within the meaning of~~ the Code.

The 9% LIHTC reservation may be subject to other milestones or conditions set forth in the Tax Credit Reservation. Failure to meet such milestones or conditions may result in the Authority's cancellation of the Tax Credit Reservation.

A-8. Appraisal and Market Study

Neither the Authority-required appraisal, nor the Authority-ordered market study shall be required until after a 9% LIHTC Reservation has been executed. The receipt of the Authority-required appraisal and Authority-ordered market study shall be required prior to the execution of a Carryover (as defined herein) or the issuance of a 42(m) letter. Refer to Procedures Part II Rental Housing with respect to, Sections A-7 Market Study and A-8 Appraisals for details on 4% and 9% LIHTC market study and appraisal requirements. ~~Both the Authority-ordered professional appraisal and market study are not required until after a 9% LIHTC Reservation has been executed. The receipt of the Authority-ordered appraisal and market study is required prior to the execution of a Carryover Allocation Agreement or issuance of a 42(m) letter.~~

A-9. Reassessment

Following the At the conclusion of the Authority's Board of Director's adoption of resolutions by the Authority's Board of Directors confirming the 9% LIHTC ranking process, an applicant may apply to the Authority to reassess its decisions relating to the acceptance, scoring, or ranking of the application in the funding round. The application for reassessment shall be submitted in a form acceptable to the Authority within ninety (90) days of the Authority's Board of Directors's funding round approval. The reassessment shall be conducted by the Authority's senior staff members who were not directly involved in the evaluation of the application. An application for a reassessment must be accompanied by the applicable fee as noted in the LIHTC guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time (the LIHTC Guidelines"). Decisions regarding

reassessments will be considered final and will not be reconsidered. In the event that the application for reassessment results in a change of scoring and an allocation of 9% LIHTCs, the reassessment fee shall be fully refunded. At the discretion of the Authority's Board of Directors, reassessments may result in a forward commitment of 9% LIHTCs in accordance with the current QAP ~~and the policy objectives and Administrative Requirements of the Authority~~. A successful reassessment will not result in the cancellation of a previously approved reservation.

A-10. Electing Applicable Credit Percentage

~~Each development's Applicable Credit Percentage will be established by an irrevocable election by the applicant, based on published rates in effect in either (i) the month the development is placed in service or at the election of the applicant, or (ii) the month in which a binding agreement to allocate the credit is entered into between the applicant and the Authority. This election must be made after a 9% LIHTC reservation has been issued and must be executed by the fifth day of the month following the month in which the binding agreement is executed.~~

A-1011. Issuing Tax Credit Allocations

For developments with 9% LIHTCs that will not place-in service in the year of reservation, initial allocations will be made upon meeting the requirements ~~set by the Authority and the Code for a carryover allocation agreement ("Carryover")~~ Carryover Allocation Agreement. Final allocations of LIHTCs will be issued by the Authority after a review of the cost certification and a determination of final project costs and sources of funding ~~have~~ has been ~~completed~~ made. ~~The Authority shall establish a deadline for submission of materials necessary prior to the issuance of a Carryover and failure~~ In instances of a forward allocation of credits, projects will have until December 1st of the credit ceiling year from which the forward reservation was made to satisfy the Authority's requirements for a Carryover Allocation Agreement. Failure to meet this deadline may preclude issuance of a Carryover ~~Allocation Agreement~~.

A-1112. Cost Certification

Construction and

All applicants are subject to bidding requirements but may be exempt from having a General Contractor in place at the time of application. The Authority reserves the right to require competitive bidding ~~among three general contractors pre-qualified by the Applicant and accepted by the Authority~~ in order to mitigate and reduce project cost increases from the originally proposed budget. If required, competitive bidding for a General Contractor or project value-engineering shall be completed prior to Board of Directors' approval or the applicant's execution of a Carryover Allocation Agreement or receipt of an Authority issued issuance of a 42(m) letter.

All LIHTC developments must provide ~~construction~~ observation reports to the Authority on a current and regular basis, as defined by the Authority in its Construction Guidelines.

The applicant shall submit a cost certification ~~accompanied by a certified public accountant's report in accordance with Section 1.42-17(a)(5) of the Treasury Regulations after substantial~~

completion ~~of the development and during the lease up period. This cost certification must be submitted within the specified timeframe~~ in order for the final funds disbursement to occur.

The applicant shall ~~also submit Final Certificate(s) of Occupancy, affidavits of financing and such other~~ information as the Authority deems ~~necessary~~ appropriate for purposes of making the financial feasibility and viability determinations under the Code. The Authority's staff shall review the cost certification and make a preliminary determination that the amount of the LIHTC is necessary and appropriate, in accordance with the Code.

A-~~12~~13. Compliance Monitoring

All qualified LIHTC developments are subject to review pursuant to the Authority's compliance monitoring procedures established in the QAP and LIHTC Guidelines during the initial LIHTC compliance period and the extended use period.

A-~~14~~ Information

~~All processing and LIHTC award decisions made by the Authority shall be subject to the Code and the Regulations promulgated thereunder, the QAP and these Procedures.~~

A-~~13~~15. Subsidy Layering

At the Authority's election and in accordance with applicable federal law and regulations including, without limitation, guidance from the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD") ~~a Memorandum of Understanding with HUD,~~ the Authority ~~may perform~~ performs Subsidy Layering Reviews on HUD's behalf for mixed-finance public housing projects and for newly constructed and rehabilitated structures which utilize Project-Based Vouchers in conjunction with LIHTCs. The Authority may charge an administrative fee for performing this service. ~~This review is performed in accordance with the requirements of the Housing and Economic Recovery Act of 2008 (HERA) to satisfy the requirements of section 102(d) of the Department of Housing and Urban Development Reform Act of 1989 (HUD Reform Act).~~

Tax Credit Programs
Low Income Housing Tax Credit
Revised: ~~7/25/2024~~ 5/28/20
Adopted: ~~TBD~~ 7/30/2020

C. HOUSING TAX CREDIT CONTRIBUTION PROGRAM

C-1. Introduction

Connecticut General Statutes ("C.G.S.") Section 8-395, as amended, provides for tax credit vouchers for Business Firms making cash contributions to Nonprofit Corporations that develop, sponsor or manage Housing Programs which benefit Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families~~low and moderate income individuals or families.~~ Plans to provide rental or ownership housing opportunities to Low- and Moderate-Income Persons or Families through the ownership, construction, acquisition or rehabilitation of housing for Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families, Workforce Housing, capitalization of a revolving loan fund, or the creation of a workforce housing development project (as defined in C.G.S. Section 8-395(a)(3)) shall individually and collectively herein be referred to as "Housing Program(s)." All statutory terms herein shall have the meanings as set forth in the C.G.S., and all other terms shall have the meanings set forth in the definitions herein.

Formatted: Body Text 2, Justified, Space After: 0 pt, Line spacing: single, Tab stops: 0.5", Left

C-2. Definitions

(a) "Area Median Income" means the area median income, adjusted for family size, as determined yearly by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development;

~~(b) "Business Firm" means any business entity as defined in C.G.S. Section 8-395(a);~~

~~(c) "CDFIs" means Community Development Financial Institutions. A CDFI is a specialized financial institution incorporated within the state as a nonprofit tax exempt financial institution, designated and certified by the CDFI Fund, a bureau of the United States Department of the Treasury.~~

~~(a) "Contribution" means cash payment;~~

~~(b) "Family" means a household consisting of one or more persons;~~

~~(c) "Housing Program" means:~~

~~(1) a plan to build or acquire and improve housing to provide decent, safe and sanitary housing for Very Low-, Low- and Moderate Income Families; or~~

~~(2) a plan to capitalize a revolving loan fund providing low-cost loans for housing construction, repair or rehabilitation to provide decent, safe and sanitary housing for Very Low-, Low- and Moderate Income Families; or~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.5", Tab stops: 0", Left

~~(3) a program for Workforce Housing that provides assistance to individuals.~~

~~(g) "Income Year" means the Business Firm's Income Year, as defined in C.G.S. Section 12-213(a)(5);~~

~~(h) "Nonprofit Corporation" means a Nonprofit Corporation incorporated pursuant to Chapter 602 of the C.G.S., or any predecessor statutes thereto, having as one of its purposes the construction, rehabilitation, ownership or operation of housing and having articles of incorporation approved by the Executive Director of the Authority in accordance with regulations adopted pursuant to C.G.S. Section 8-79a or 8-84;~~

~~(bi) "Very Low-, Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families" means person(s) or families whose total household income does not exceed 50%, 80% and 100% of Area Median Income, respectively;~~

~~(j) "Eligible Expenses" as the term applies to revolving loan funds relates to the acquisition of housing located in Connecticut which is occupied by Very Low-, Low- and Moderate- Income Families for more than one hundred eighty three (183) days per calendar year and which has a purchase price that is not greater than the sales price limits set yearly by the Authority. Eligible Expenses may include, but are not limited to:~~

~~(1) down payment assistance for no greater than 25% of the cost of home purchase;~~

~~(2) mortgage interest rate buy downs;~~

~~(3) reasonable and customary closing costs; and~~

~~(4) rehabilitation costs.~~

~~(ck) "Workforce Housing" means housing that is affordable housing for Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families that include low- and moderate- income wage or salaried workers in the municipalities where they work.~~

~~(dl) "Authority" means the Connecticut Housing Finance Authority.~~

Formatted: Indent: Hanging: 0.5", Tab stops: 5", Left + Not at 0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.5", Tab stops: Not at 0.5"

C-3. Program Description

(a) The Authority is authorized to administer a system of tax credit vouchers to Business Firms making Contributions to eligible Housing Program(s) which benefit Low- and Moderate-

~~Income Persons or Families Very Low-, Low- and Moderate Income Families~~, or in the case of Workforce Housing ~~Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families that are low- and moderate income~~ wage or salaried workers, and which are developed, sponsored or managed by Nonprofit Corporations. The tax credit voucher shall be granted in an amount equal to 100% of the value of the Contribution made. A Business Firm may receive a voucher for a Contribution to a Housing Program, which Contribution may result in the Business Firm having a limited equity interest in such program. No tax credit shall be granted to any Business Firm for any individual Contribution of less than \$250.

~~(b) Housing Programs eligible for Contributions may not serve families whose gross income exceeds 100% of the Area Median Income.~~

~~(e) Each eligible Nonprofit Corporation may not receive more than an aggregate amount of \$500,000 annually in Contributions for its Housing Program(s) to which tax credits may be applied.~~

~~(d) For the purposes of this program, the Nonprofit Corporation's expenses for salaries, operations and overhead shall not be considered as Housing Program costs eligible for funding by a Contribution from a Business Firm.~~

~~(c) Eligible costs shall be defined in the Housing Tax Credit Contribution Program ("HTCC") guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time.~~

C-4. Nonprofit Corporation Eligibility

To be eligible to participate in this program, the applicant shall demonstrate that it meets the definition of a Nonprofit Corporation above by submitting to the Authority an endorsed Certificate of Incorporation certified by the Secretary of the State, a certification that the Nonprofit Corporation is in existence from the Secretary of the State's Office and a copy of the letter that was issued to the Nonprofit Corporation by the Internal Revenue Service determining that the corporation qualifies as an exempt organization under section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. Nonprofit Corporation must have its articles of incorporation approved by the Executive Director of the Authority.

C-5. Application Process for Nonprofit Corporations

(a) Applications from Nonprofit Corporations for approval of each Housing Program shall be filed on a date determined by the Authority. The time of receipt of an application shall be deemed to be the time of filing.

(b) As part of the application approval process, the Nonprofit Corporation shall be required to furnish the information as required in HTCC guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time and any other information deemed appropriate by the Authority following regarding each Housing Program submitted for approval:

Formatted: Tab stops: 0", Left

Formatted: Tab stops: 0", Left

~~(1) A description of the Housing Program, including the total number of families to be served, the number of families to be served with incomes at or below 25% of the Area Median Income, the number of families with incomes greater than 25% and not more than 50% of the Area Median Income, the number of families with incomes greater than 50% and not more than 80% of the Area Median Income, and the number of families with incomes greater than 80% and not more than 100% of the Area Median Income; or in the case of a revolving loan fund, a detailed description of the revolving loan fund shall be provided.~~

~~(2) Evidence of housing need as demonstrated by a local survey, Consolidated Plan for Housing and Community Development, market study, or other documents deemed satisfactory by the Authority;~~

~~(3) Evidence of the general administrative capability of the Nonprofit Corporation to develop, sponsor or manage the Housing Program;~~

~~(4) Project financing plan and budget;~~

~~(5) Evidence of the project's readiness to proceed;~~

~~(6) Evidence that any funds previously received by the Nonprofit Corporation for which a voucher was previously issued were used to accomplish the goals set forth in the application; and~~

~~(7) Other information deemed appropriate by the Executive Director of the Authority.~~

(c) The Executive Director of the Authority may, at his/her sole discretion, waive any of the non-statutory requirements relating to the documentation which must be submitted to the Authority for participation in the ~~Housing Tax Credit Contribution ("HTCC") Program. The Executive Director of the Authority, however, shall not waive, or in any manner alter, the requirement that Contributions shall be allocated only to Housing Programs that serve Very Low, Low or Moderate Income Families.~~

Such a waiver may be granted if there is sufficient evidence that:

(1) The literal enforcement of Authority ~~Procedures~~procedures provides for exceptional difficulty or unusual hardship not caused by the applicant;

(2) The benefit to be gained by the waiver outweighs the detriment which would result from enforcement of the requirement;

(3) The waiver is in harmony with conserving public health, safety, and welfare; and

(4) The waiver is in the best interest of the State of Connecticut.

C-6. Rating and Ranking Process

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: Not at 0" + 0.5"

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.5", Tab stops: 0", Left + 0.5", Left

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", Hanging: 0.5", Tab stops: 0", Left + 0.5", Left

Information submitted in the tax credit application will be evaluated and ranked according to the following categories, and as further described in the application. The evaluation ranking system categories, as set forth in C.G.S. Section 8-395, and as further described in HTCC Program guidelines and/or application materials promulgated by the Authority from time to time, shall include the following: (a) readiness of the housing project to be built, (b) use of funds to build or rehabilitate a housing project or to capitalize a revolving loan fund, (c) income targeting benefitting families at or below 25% of Area Median Income, (d) administrative capability of the nonprofit corporation, (e) goals accomplished with respect to prior HTCC awards, (f) use of funds in urban areas and impact on neighborhood revitalization, and (g) the extent to which HTCC tax credit funds are leveraged by other funds. (See points calculation worksheet). The top ranking Housing Programs will receive a tax credit reservation provided a financing gap exists.

~~—— (a) Readiness to Proceed — the extent to which the applicant can demonstrate its readiness to proceed by providing documentation evidencing site control, firm financing commitments, zoning approval, building permits and any other documents that would indicate an applicant's readiness; or in the case of revolving loan funds, a fund establishment certification, stating the Nonprofit Corporation will establish the loan fund in accordance with the approved Housing Program in a manner that will assure all funds will be utilized for the stated program purpose within three (3) years of approval. The date of approval shall be the date of the Reservation Letter.~~

Formatted: Tab stops: 0.5", Left

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 1"

~~—— (b) Type of Housing Program — the extent to which funds are used to build or rehabilitate a specific housing project; or to capitalize a revolving loan fund providing low cost loans for housing construction, repair or rehabilitation to benefit persons of Very Low, Low and Moderate Income; or to the extent to which funds are used to establish a program of assistance to individuals to purchase or rent Workforce Housing, including the extent to which the Workforce Housing Program would reduce the commuting distance of participants.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: Not at 0" + 0.75" + 1"

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 1"

~~—— (c) Target Population — the extent to which the project will benefit families with incomes at or below 25% of the Area Median Income and families with income between 25% and 50% of the Area Median Income; or in the case of Workforce Housing Programs the degree to which the program benefits low or moderate income wage or salaried employees purchasing or renting Workforce Housing.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: 0.5", Left + Not at 0.75" + 1"

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 1"

~~—— (d) Administrative Capability — the general administrative capability of the Nonprofit Corporation to build, rehabilitate or manage housing, and the extent to which any funds received by the Nonprofit Corporation for which a voucher was issued were used to accomplish the goals set forth in the application; or in the case of a program established for Workforce Housing to provide assistance to individuals, the degree to which the Nonprofit Corporation has the administrative capability to administer such program.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: Not at 0" + 0.75" + 1"

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 1"

~~—— (e) Use of Funds in Urban Areas and Impact on Neighborhood Revitalization — the extent to which the project is located in an Urban Regional Center as defined by the Connecticut Conservation and Development Plan of Connecticut, 2005-2010, as amended, and the project's impact on neighborhood revitalization.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: Not at 0" + 0.75" + 1"

Formatted: Tab stops: Not at 1"

Formatted: Tab stops: 0.5", Left

~~(f) _____ The extent to which tax credit funds are leveraged by other funds.~~

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0", First line: 0", Tab stops: 0.5", Left + Not at 0.75" + 1"

C-7. Administration of Contributions

(a) Each year, the Authority shall publish the list of Housing Programs of Nonprofit Corporations that will receive tax credit reservations.

(b) Upon notice of tax credit reservation, the Nonprofit Corporation shall have until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published annually to secure Contributions from eligible Business Firms. Failure to meet this deadline will result in unallocated credits becoming available to other eligible applicants, which will have until ninety (90) days after the list of Housing Programs is published to secure Contributions from eligible Business Firms. Determination of which Housing Program receives the unallocated funds will be made pursuant to ranking score. Should unallocated funds remain available after ninety (90) days, an extension may be granted at the ~~Authority's Executive Director's or his/her designee's~~ discretion.

(c) Until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published each year, ~~\$2,000,000 two million dollars~~ of the total amount of all tax credits available in any one fiscal year shall be set aside for permanent supportive housing initiatives established pursuant to C.G.S. Section 17a – 485c, as amended.

(d) Until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published each year, ~~\$1,000,000 one million dollars~~ of the total amount of all tax credits available in any one fiscal year shall be set aside for Workforce Housing loan funds.

C-8. Business Firm Eligibility

To be eligible to participate in this program, a Business Firm shall submit an endorsed Certificate of Incorporation and a Certificate of Existence from the Secretary of the State's Office, or equivalent ~~documentation~~ document acceptable to the Authority.

C-9. Application Process for Business Firms

(a) Applications for Business Firm Contributions shall be filed annually with the Authority by no later than the timeframe described in section C-7. The time of receipt of an application shall be deemed to be the time of filing. Applications for tax credit vouchers shall be made on forms prescribed and furnished by the Authority.

(b) As part of the application approval process, the Business Firm shall be required to furnish the following:

(1) A list of the Housing Program(s) to which the Business Firm intends to make Contribution(s); and

(2) The amount of the Contribution to be made to each Housing Program.

(c) Applications shall be approved or rejected by ~~the Executive Director of~~ the Authority based on the information and documentation required herein, as well as the availability of tax credits.

(d) If the Business Firm application is approved, the Business Firm will be notified, in writing, and given instructions ~~on~~ how to proceed with the Contribution.

(e) If the Business Firm application is rejected, the Business Firm shall be notified, in writing, of the reasons for the rejection.

C-10. Issuance of Tax Credit Vouchers

(a) Tax credit vouchers for Contributions to approved Housing Programs shall be issued in accordance with a ranking system which takes into consideration information provided by the Nonprofit Corporation in its application and the availability of tax credit vouchers.

(b) The ~~Executive Director of the Authority or his/her designee~~ shall notify the Business Firm, in writing, that a tax credit voucher will be reserved, contingent upon the Business Firm's submission of a notarized receipt from the Nonprofit Corporation of the Contribution made to the approved Housing Program.

(c) Tax credits shall be processed in accordance with policies established by the Department of Revenue Services.

(d) If a Business Firm is contributing to one or more Housing Programs, the application shall be submitted as a single application and shall provide the information required herein for each Business Firm.

(e) The amount which is proposed to be contributed by a Business Firm to which a credit voucher has been reserved must be contributed by March 31 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the application for such voucher was filed.

(f) The Business Firm's tax credit must be claimed on the tax return of the Income Year during which the Contribution to the Nonprofit Corporation was made.

C-11. Carryforwards and Carrybacks

Any tax credit not used in the period during which the Contribution was made may be carried forward or backward for the five (5) immediately succeeding or preceding Income Years until the full credit has been allowed.

C-12. Compliance Monitoring

(a) The Nonprofit Corporation shall maintain a segregated account as it pertains to Housing Programs receiving Contributions for which a tax credit voucher(s) has been issued. The Nonprofit

Corporation shall maintain complete and accurate books and records, and shall furnish the Authority with financial statements and other reports relating to the operation of the program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(b) Or in the case of a revolving loan fund(s), the Nonprofit Corporation shall establish the revolving loan fund(s) in accordance with the Housing Program subsequent to voucher issuance from the Authority and provide evidence of that establishment to the Authority. Such evidence must include a signed, notarized fund(s) establishment certification or a statement demonstrating the deposit of funds, copies of all documents to be utilized in the administration of the fund(s) and any other information relative to the fund(s) requested by the Authority.

(c) The Nonprofit Corporation must make active, good faith efforts to market its Housing Program and carry out the objectives of the Housing Program, and shall furnish the Authority with marketing materials and other documents relating to the marketing of the Housing Program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(d) The Nonprofit Corporation must also maintain records of account balances, loan activity, fund maintenance, and compliance with the Authority's requirements, and shall furnish the Authority with financial statements and other reports relating to the operation of the program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(e) Housing Programs projects shall be scheduled for completion not more than three (3) years from the date of approval. Anticipated date of completion shall be documented in the project schedule submitted with the application. In the case of revolving loan funds, 100% of the HTCC funds must be loaned out within three (3) years of the fund's inception. All loan repayments, interest and investment income must be held in the loan fund to be used in accordance with the Housing Program with the exception that ~~qualified CDFIs and eligible nonprofit~~ entities administering revolving loan funds may offset administrative and overhead expenses by withdrawing from the loan fund earnings from an interest rate spread not to exceed 3%.

(f) Approved Housing Program(s) must submit quarterly progress reports evidencing compliance with the submitted project schedule; or in the case of a revolving loan fund(s), a quarterly report detailing the activity~~compilation~~ of the revolving loan fund(s) must be provided to the Authority.

(g) Failure to submit quarterly progress reports two (2) or more times in any given calendar year ~~shall~~may result in a loss of points off the subsequent ranking of any and all HTCC project applications by the non-compliant ~~awardee~~applicant for a period of two (2) consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program.

(h) Housing Programs must demonstrate final completion by submitting to the Authority a signed Certificate of Project Completion ~~form~~ ("CC") along with Certificate(s) of Occupancy ("CO"), Temporary Certificate(s) of Occupancy ("TCO") or, if applicable, a letter from the local municipal building official indicating that all work performed~~a CO/TCO~~ has been approved by the municipality~~issued and is valid for the Housing Program~~ as of the date of project completion; revolving loan fund(s) must demonstrate final completion by submitting a Certificate of

Completion, ~~prepared by a certified public accountant~~ and copies of all relevant loan documents that ~~support~~~~backup~~ the use of the HTCC funds ~~in accordance with CHFA Guidelines.~~

(i) ~~If a CO/TCO is not available for the originally proposed properties, a letter from the applicant must be provided to the Authority explaining the extenuating circumstances which resulted in a deviation from the Housing Program.~~

(j) If an ~~awardee~~~~applicant~~ wishes to make a change to a Housing Program plan or budget, such revision requests should be submitted in writing to the Authority for staff review and written approval prior to final completion document submission.

(k) Failure to submit final completion documents, as stated above, to the Authority within three (3) years and ninety (90) days from the date of the Reservation Letter will result in the ineligibility of the ~~awardee~~~~applicant~~ in the HTCC Program for a period of two (2) consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program. ~~Awardees that are unable to complete the Housing Program within the required timeframe may submit a written request for an extension to the Authority that explains the extenuating circumstances. The Authority, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to accept or deny any such request. The Authority may deduct points from future applications for awardees that are not able to complete the Housing Program within the required three (3) years.~~

(l) If an ~~awardee~~~~applicant~~ fails to proceed with the Housing Program in accordance with the project schedule or demonstrate that completion occurred within ~~the approved timeframe and in no event later than~~ three (3) years from the date of approval, the remaining funds contributed by Business Firms may be reclaimed by the Authority, such funds shall be redistributed to another Housing Program in the next appropriate funding round and the ~~awardee~~~~applicant~~ will be ineligible in the HTCC Program for a period of two consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program.

Housing Tax Credit Contribution Program
Revised: ~~7/25/2024~~~~10/30/2014~~
Adopted: ~~TBD~~~~12/18/2014~~

II
RENTAL HOUSING
A. MULTIFAMILY RENTAL HOUSING PROGRAM

A-1. Housing Affordability and Applications

In furtherance of its mission to alleviate the shortage of affordable housing for low and moderate income families and persons in Connecticut, the Authority responds to all inquiries regarding multifamily rental housing developments.

(a) Within available resources depending on funding sources and to the extent practicable, multifamily rental housing developments should create affordable housing to serve a mix of incomes , though all development types shall be considered.

(b) A CHFA-DOH Consolidated Application (the “ConApp”) shall be completed and submitted by an applicant seeking financing. Each applicant’s ConApp will be screened to determine if it conforms with and satisfies the following:

- (1) State of Connecticut and Authority policy objectives;
- (2) preliminary threshold requirements established by the Authority, subject to further review;
- (3) Authority-established eligibility standards set for all applicants; and
- (4) demonstrated need and/or demand.

(c) Upon the Authority’s request, clarification of ConApp submissions must be provided to the Authority’s satisfaction before a financing proposal may be considered for approval.

(d) The Authority shall create a schedule of fees and costs associated with application and financing. Other applicable fees and costs not included in this schedule may be required.

(e) The Authority may require physical access to the proposed development site in determining the feasibility of the financing request.

A-2. Qualified Development Team

(a) The development team shall include the developer(s), general contractor(s), architect(s), property manager(s) and any other parties deemed by the Authority to be necessary for the completion and/or operation of the proposed multifamily rental development.

(b) Each member of the development team shall be licensed and/or registered to do business in the State of Connecticut.

(c) The Authority shall determine whether the members of the development team are qualified (the “Qualified Development Team”). When determining whether a development team is qualified, the Authority may assess, without limitation, the team’s development and operational

history for comparable and completed developments, financial capacity, and relevant experience in multifamily housing finance, development, construction, management, and resident services.

(d) During the developmental and operational stages, a proposed change and/or substitution of any previously approved member of the Qualified Development Team shall be submitted in writing to the Authority and shall require the prior written consent of the Authority.

(e) All applicants shall sign an "Identity of Interest" statement disclosing relationships among members of the proposed development team. The statement shall attest to the relationship, if any, of all persons and/or entities benefitting financially from the multifamily rental housing development. When an identity of interest exists, the Authority reserves the right to evaluate and accept or reject the cost reasonableness of that service and/or work to be performed.

A-3. Credit Evaluation

(a) The Authority may conduct a credit investigation to ascertain and ensure that the proposed development team possesses sufficient financial capacity and is capable of completing and operating the proposed multifamily rental housing development. The Authority shall determine the extent of such credit investigation.

(b) An applicant shall furnish a listing of any general partners, managing members or principal shareholders of the developer/sponsor entity and the proposed owner/mortgagor entity, the general contractor, and property management agent, as required by the Authority.

A-4. Affirmative Action

Each mortgagor and its contractors, subcontractors, and management agents shall agree to comply with federal and state executive orders, statutes, regulations, and other requirements of law relating to affirmative action and equal employment opportunity.

A-5. Return on Equity

(a) The mortgagor's equity in a multifamily rental housing development shall be as defined in Section 8-253a(5), as may be amended, of the Connecticut General Statutes, incorporating project costs certified by the mortgagor and recognized by the Authority, whether or not such costs have been paid in cash or in a form other than cash, and the total amount of the mortgage loans and/or grant proceeds.

(b) A loan to a mortgagor, having as one of its purposes the construction or rehabilitation of housing, shall be subject to an agreement between the Authority and the mortgagor limiting the mortgagor and its principals, stockholders, partners and/or members to such return on the mortgagor's equity as may be established or permitted by the Authority. The non-cumulative cash return on equity shall be determined at the Authority's discretion and to the extent economically feasible.

A-6. Related Facilities

The Authority may provide financing for related facilities in accordance with Section 8-243(d) as may be amended of the Connecticut General Statutes, which defines "related facilities" as commercial, office, health, welfare, administrative, recreational, community, and service facilities incidental and pertinent to multifamily rental housing as determined by the Authority. If any related facility is to be leased, then the Authority shall have the right to disapprove any proposed use, tenant, or provision of the lease.

A-7. Market Study

(a) The Authority may require an independent, professional market study on all multifamily rental housing developments being considered for CHFA mortgage financing and/or issuance of Low-Income Housing Tax Credits ("LIHTCs" or "LIHTC"). If a development being considered for financing has a project-based rental assistance commitment or contract in place for the entire development, then the Authority may determine that the market analysis required as part of the prospective appraisal valuation required under Sec. A-8 will be sufficient so as to not require a separate market study.

(b) If the Authority determines that a separate market study is required, then the Authority shall commission a market analysis from an approved list of market analysts developed and maintained by the Authority. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, the applicant shall make full payment for the market study(ies), in advance, which payment is nonrefundable should the applicant's financing proposal not be approved by the Authority. The market study shall be prepared according to industry standards and within contract terms established by the Authority.

(c) For developments seeking an issuance of LIHTC but no financing from the Authority, the Authority reserves the right to utilize a market analysis that has been completed by an analyst not on the Authority's approved list but has been reviewed and accepted by Authority staff.

(d) The Authority reserves the right to require current market information prior to approval of its financing.

A-8. Appraisal

(a) Independent, professional "as-is" and "to-be-developed" appraisals may be required for all multifamily rental housing developments being considered for mortgage financing by the Authority. Also, the Authority may require appraisals when financing with non-amortizing Authority debt, debt restructuring or other special situations.

(b) The Authority may commission an appraisal from an approved list of appraisers developed and maintained by the Authority. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, the applicant shall make full payment for the appraisal(s), in advance, which payment is nonrefundable should the applicant's financing proposal not be approved by the Authority. The appraisal shall be prepared according to industry standards and within contract terms established by the Authority. The Authority may accept another lender's appraisal in certain circumstances such as LIHTC transactions that are not financed with the Authority.

(c) The Authority reserves the right to exercise discretion in commissioning an appraisal and/or modifying its appraisal requirements as may be practical given the circumstances of each transaction.

(d) The Authority reserves the right to require additional appraisals or to commission review appraisals at the applicant's expense.

A-9. Underwriting Standards

The Authority shall establish loan underwriting standards in the following areas and may review and revise the standards as market and economic conditions require and/or when programmatic requirements exist.

(1) Debt Service Coverage ("DSC") - The minimum coverage for all uninsured multifamily rental housing loans shall be 1.15x or its equivalent (as determined by the Authority) for a period deemed necessary by the Authority, but in no event less than one year. For programs or financing that fund housing development for the homeless, special needs populations, restructures or if there is no permanent amortizing debt, the DSC may be reduced at the Authority's discretion.

(2) Loan to Value ("LTV") - The LTV may not exceed eighty percent (80%) of the appraised prospective value or the Authority's estimated total lending cost as recognized by the Authority. As determined by the Authority in its discretion, (i) the LTV may be increased to further public and/or Authority objectives, and (ii) for applicants with not-for-profit sponsors, financing may occur at a higher LTV percentage. For the purpose of this section, a loan is defined as that which is self-amortizing. The Authority may, in its discretion, exempt applicants/mortgagors with not-for-profit developers/sponsors, regardless of the number of apartments in the multifamily rental housing development, from and/or modify the requirements of this subsection.

(3) Total Development Cost ("TDC") - The total multifamily rental housing development cost shall be based on the Authority's analysis, including but not limited to, time, construction and acquisition costs, reserve and soft costs, extraordinary features, location, public purpose and type of sponsor/developer.

(4) Vacancy Assumptions - Underwriting vacancy rate assumptions will be based on the percentage of the AMI of the intended resident population and/or market conditions as of the first stabilized year of operations as determined by the Authority.

(5) Income Trends - To determine the maximum amount of a mortgage loan, income shall be forecasted on an annual basis throughout the term of the proposed mortgage loan, and other documentation and indices may be considered.

(6) Expense Trends - To determine the maximum amount of a mortgage loan, expenses shall be forecasted on an annual basis throughout the term of the proposed mortgage loan and other documentation and indices may be considered. Written documentation approved by the municipality evidencing real estate tax abatements, deferments, or payments in lieu of tax agreements will be required for the Authority to include less than full taxes in its underwriting assumptions. Forecasted

annual growth rates for expenses, as specified by the Authority, shall be greater than forecasted annual growth rates for the proposed income sources. The Authority reserves the right to exercise discretion in the expense growth rates.

(7) Maximum Loan Amount - Following consideration of market, location and other applicable conditions, the Authority, in its discretion, shall determine the maximum mortgage loan amount subject to the following: (a) applicable statutory limitations, and (b) LTV or DSC.

(8) Rent Limitations - Maximum rents shall be set at levels affordable to the targeted resident income group(s) to be served as determined by applicable state and federal rent limitations and market analysis to the extent economically feasible.

(9) Reserve for Replacement - A Reserve for Replacement Account shall be established for each multifamily rental housing development, which account, plus interest or other earnings thereon, shall at all times be under the sole control of the Authority, unless otherwise determined by the Authority. Please also refer to Section II(B) of these Procedures for further discussion of reserves for replacement. With respect to requests for financing, the Authority may, from time to time, require a capital needs assessment report (a “CNA”) prepared by an acceptable third-party provider in a format approved by the Authority.

(10) Operating Reserve - The Authority may require a mortgagor to fund an operating reserve in an amount determined and held by the Authority. Such reserve shall be available for the full term of the Authority’s mortgage loan to fund operating deficits, real estate taxes, debt service coverage deficiencies and such other costs as solely determined by the Authority to ensure economic viability during the term of its mortgage loan. Unless otherwise determined by the Authority, such reserve will be established as of initial closing for Authority financing under terms and conditions of an escrow and disbursement agreement executed between the mortgagor and the Authority. Such deposit shall be in cash or in the form of an irrevocable and unconditional Letter of Credit (LOC) in form and content acceptable to the Authority. The deposit required for the operating reserve may be included within the development budget.

(11) Type of Financing - Both recourse and non-recourse financing may be provided, as determined by the Authority. Non-recourse mortgage loans may become recourse if the mortgagor defaults under certain circumstances, including, but not limited to, utilizing the multifamily rental housing development’s income and assets for other than operating expenses, debt service or capital improvements permitted under the Authority’s loan documents.

(12) Developer Allowance/Fee (“DAF”) - To the extent economically feasible, the DAF shall be comprised of two parts: a “Deferred DAF Portion” and a “Paid DAF Portion”. The Deferred DAF Portion is the portion of the total approved DAF amount to be deferred by the mortgagor to complete the multifamily rental housing development, as may be permitted by the Authority and as further described in subsection (13) below. The Authority shall publish, from time to time, DAF requirements and limitations, *provided, however*, in no event shall the DAF exceed 15% of TDC (as defined, without DAF, in subsection (3) above) with respect to any multifamily rental housing development.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, developments determined by the Authority to not be utilizing scarce public resources shall be entitled to a P a i d D A F P o r t i o n equal to 15% of T D C .

(13) Deferred Developer Allowance/Fee (“Deferred DAF Portion”) - The Authority may permit a portion of the total approved DAF amount to be deferred by the mortgagor to complete the multifamily rental housing development. For the purposes of assessing initial application feasibility, the deferred amount should not exceed the lesser of: (a) fifty percent (50%) of the Authority-approved total paid DAF as of initial closing, or (b) the amount that may be fully recovered by the mortgagor, without interest, from Authority-approved annual distributions during the first fifteen (15) years of operations. The final Deferred DAF Portion shall be sized at the Authority’s discretion and approval and may exceed these limitations with the consent of the investor’s limited partner in the transaction.

(14) Loan Term and Rate - The permanent loan term may be up to forty (40) years, with prepayment subject to the terms of these Procedures and the Connecticut General Statutes. The interest rate may be fixed or variable, as determined by the Authority.

(15) Mortgage Insurance - In the Authority's discretion, mortgage insurance or other forms of credit enhancement may be required.

(16) Consultants - Should an applicant/mortgagor elect to retain a housing development consultant or resident training consultant, then the fees of such consultants shall be excluded from the development budget. At the option of the applicant/ mortgagor, such consultants may be compensated from the Authority-approved DAF. The Authority shall publish guidelines from time to time setting forth guidelines regarding consultant compensation.

(17) General Contractor Overhead and Profit and General Requirements –

(a) Overhead should not exceed two percent (2%) and profit should not exceed six percent (6%) of the total costs for site and building improvements in the construction contract; i.e., Divisions 2 through 16 of the construction contract documents.

(b) General Requirements, exclusive of bond premium costs, if applicable, should not exceed six percent (6%) of the total costs for site and building improvements in the construction contract; i.e., Divisions 2 through 16 of the construction contract documents.

(c) At the Authority’s discretion, the maximum percentage amounts paid to a general contractor for overhead and profit may exceed eight percent (8%) and for general requirements may exceed six percent (6%) provided, however, that the transaction is not subject to HUD/FHA limitations due to financing, a HUD Subsidy Layering Review, FHA Risk-Share insurance, etc. and the total amount paid to a general contractor for overhead, profit and general requirements does not exceed a cumulative total of fourteen percent (14%). For developments with construction costs of less than \$2,500,000, the Authority may limit the combined value of the general contractor or construction manager overhead, profit and general requirements to 16% of the cost of the work, excluding payment and performance bonds and building permits.

(d) Fees may be further limited for related parties or identities of interest, or at the discretion of the Authority.

(18) Syndication Costs - The costs of syndication shall not exceed an amount acceptable to the Authority. Syndication costs include all direct and indirect costs incurred in securing syndication proceeds; e.g., any fee paid to the syndicator, as well as the mortgagor's legal costs associated with securing syndication proceeds.

(19) Syndication Proceeds or Bridge Loan Financing - Funds derived from the syndication of federal Low-Income Housing Tax Credits and/or federal and state Historic Tax Credits must be available either from the syndication proceeds or bridge loan financing in an amount, with terms, and in a manner satisfactory to the Authority. If there is an identity of interest between the lender and either the syndicator, the mortgagor, or the developer, then the rate must be a commercially reasonable rate as determined by the Authority. The interest cost of financing the DAF shall not be recognized, provided that the Authority may grant an exception in the case of a DAF for a mortgagor with a non-profit sponsor.

(20) Restrictive Covenant - All multifamily rental housing developments shall have a restrictive covenant identifying the term and structure of affordability limitations which may require the development to be monitored by the Authority and/or its authorized agent or contractor.

(21) Affirmative Fair Housing Marketing - All mortgagors shall execute the Authority's form of an affirmative fair housing marketing plan, which may be included as part of the Authority's management agreement.

(22) Small, Minority and Women-Owned Businesses - The mortgagor and general contractor for all developments obtaining Authority-provided financing shall execute minority hiring, affirmative action and non-discrimination and equal employment opportunity documents, as required by the Authority.

(23) Subordinated Debt - Subject to applicable statutory requirements, any financing subordinated to Authority financing may be allowed on a case-by-case basis, as determined by the Authority.

(24) Additional Underwriting Considerations - Financing proposals considered undesirable by the Authority will not be approved. Characteristics of undesirable financing proposals include, but are not limited to, the following: (a) those submitted by applicants with non-performing loans or obligations with the Authority or any governmental agency; (b) those submitted by applicants that have misused the Authority or any governmental loan and/or grant proceeds; (c) those submitted by entities whose principals are principals of other entities which are either currently delinquent on Authority or any governmental loans or obligations, or have a history of monetary delinquency or default of any nature; (d) not in the public interest; (e) applications for Authority bridge loan financing not associated with other Authority financing; (f) applications for the sole purpose of making interest payments to the Authority, any governmental agency or another lender; (g) applications for multifamily rental housing developments that lack sufficient financial commitments, acceptable to the Authority, to maintain a balanced sources and uses of funds; and (h) collateralized with security of unproven or questionable marketability.

If the Authority determines that any of the above underwriting standards are not satisfied and/or the multifamily rental housing development is financially infeasible, then the applicant/mortgagor will be notified in writing and the processing of the application will cease.

A-10. Approval and Issuance of a Loan Commitment

Upon recommendation of Authority staff, the proposal for mortgage financing shall be submitted to the Authority's Mortgage Committee of the Board of Directors for its consideration and upon consideration by the Mortgage Committee, a financing proposal may be referred to the Board of Directors for its consideration. If a financing resolution is adopted by the Board of Directors, then the Authority may enter into a loan commitment with the applicant setting forth the terms of the financing and required fees. Should the Authority's Board of Directors not adopt a financing resolution for the multifamily rental housing development, the applicant shall be notified in writing and processing of the application will cease.

A-11. Initial Closing

Prior to an initial mortgage closing, the Authority shall require that the proposed mortgagor deliver to the Authority all appropriate mortgage loan closing documentation and due diligence deemed by the Authority to be necessary and/or appropriate to insure that the proposed multifamily rental housing development shall be completed and operated in accordance with the Authority's requirements and that the Authority mortgage loan shall perform in accordance with the Authority and Authority Board of Director approval requirements. The Authority requirements may include, without limitation, final plans and specifications, a construction contract in accordance with industry standards, assurance of completion, a construction schedule, a construction trade payment breakdown of materials and labor costs, all required governmental approval(s), regulatory agreement(s), mortgage loan documentation, mortgagee title insurance, a property survey, an architect agreement in accordance with industry standards, a management agreement, a management plan, a marketing plan, a tenant selection plan, an environmental assessment or review, insurance coverage(s), evidence of subsidies and other development financial assistance and/or mortgage loan disbursement and loan advance financial exhibits.

A-12. Construction Period

(a) The Authority may retain a third-party, independent field observer at the mortgagor's expense who shall monitor construction progress and attend project job meetings, on a schedule to be determined by the Authority. The cost of the field observer is an eligible development cost and may be included in the development budget.

(b) Mortgage loan proceeds shall be advanced and disbursed to the mortgagor as construction/ renovation progresses, the time and amount of each advance to be at the sole discretion and upon the estimation of the Authority in relation to the percentage of the work in place, subject to conditions described by the Authority.

A-13. Substantial Completion/Permission to Occupy

(a) The mortgagor shall notify the Authority in writing when the mortgagor's supervising architect determines that substantial completion of the multifamily rental housing development has been achieved.

(b) The mortgagor shall prepare permission to occupy form(s) provided by the Authority and submit such form(s) to the Authority together with the supervising architect's punch list and a copy of the certificate of occupancy. Based upon the date of the certificate of occupancy and recommendations of the Authority's staff, the Authority shall establish a permission to occupy date and advise the mortgagor of such date. Depending upon the multifamily rental housing development's configuration and construction schedule, more than one permission to occupy form may be required and multiple permission to occupy dates may be established.

A-14. Cost Certification

The mortgagor and its general contractor shall have cost certifications audited by their respective certified public accountants. The mortgagor shall submit its and the general contractor's cost certifications to the Authority for review and acceptance in accordance with the timeframe set forth in the guideline. Upon acceptance by the Authority of the mortgagor's and general contractor's cost certifications, the Authority shall prepare a Maximum Mortgage Letter to be executed by the mortgagor and the Authority.

A-15. Final Closing

Each mortgagor shall submit all construction, cost certification, financial, LIHTC and mortgage loan documentation required by the Authority in order to satisfy final closing requirements.

A-16. Waivers, Exemptions and Modifications

(a) The Authority's Board of Directors or the Executive Director may authorize waivers, exemptions and modifications for any requirements that are not mandated by statute or other law. Requests for waivers, exemptions and modifications from applicant/mortgagors shall be in writing. Such waivers, exemptions and modifications may be granted so long as the following apply:

- (1) service to very low-income households;
- (2) evidence of minimal risk to the Authority;
- (3) no conflicting public policies;
- (4) acceptable financial capacity and proven track record; and/or
- (5) other compelling reasons at the discretion of the Authority's Board of Directors or the Executive Director.

Additionally, approval for such requests may only be granted if the Authority concludes there is sufficient evidence that:

- (6) the enforcement of such provisions provide for exceptional difficulty or unusual hardship not caused by the applicant/mortgagor;
- (7) the benefit to be gained by approving such request clearly outweighs the detriment which will result from enforcement of the requirement;
- (8) approval of such request is in harmony with conserving public health, safety and welfare, and
- (9) approval of such request is in the best interest of the State and/or the Authority.

(b) The Authority's Executive Director may, from time to time, vary Multifamily Rental Housing Program requirements set forth in this Section II(A): (i) in response to federal and/or state legislation/regulations or special program and/or financing initiatives as may be adopted by the Authority's Board of Directors, and (ii) as may be necessary to effectuate the Authority's administration of the federal low-income housing tax credit program and the purposes and requirements set forth in Section IV(A) of the Procedures entitled "Low Income Housing Tax Credit."

(c) Wherever in Section II. A of these Procedures reference is made to the Authority exercising discretion, elimination, waivers, variances and exemptions, such shall be made by the Executive Director or his/her designee based upon consideration of, but not limited to, the following: (1) Such is/are necessary for the development of quality affordable housing; and (2) the considerations listed in this Section A-16.

Rental Housing
Multifamily Rental Housing Program
Revised: 7/25/2024
Adopted: TBD

B. MULTIFAMILY ASSET MANAGEMENT

B-1. Introduction; Definitions

(a) The primary responsibilities of the Multifamily Asset Management Department (“Asset Management”) are to: (i) monitor owner compliance with all applicable documents, program regulations, state statutes and the Authority’s policies and procedures, (ii) identify opportunities to minimize the Authority’s risk through the evaluation and oversight of financial sustainability of the portfolios, physical condition and management operations, and (iii) preserve the long term affordability and sustainability of the Authority’s multifamily rental housing development portfolios. Asset Management oversees two portfolios of properties as identified below:

- (1) “Private Portfolio” means multifamily rental housing developments with original financing provided by or with tax credits issued by the Authority. This includes, without limitation, REO properties which are held by subsidiaries of the Authority. Owners must comply with all applicable statutory and Authority procedural requirements and policies as well as applicable loan documents, tax credit rules and additional subsidy rules (such as HUD Section 8) and regulatory agreements.
- (2) “State-Sponsored Housing Portfolio” means the housing portfolio transferred from the Connecticut Department of Economic and Community Development (“DECD”) to the Authority in 2003 in accordance with Section 8-37uu of the Connecticut General Statutes. Owners must comply with applicable housing program requirements and all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements as well as any applicable loan documents or assistance agreements.

B-2. Tenant-Selection Plans

Each applicant for an Authority multifamily rental housing development mortgage loan shall submit a tenant-selection plan in an Authority–approved format for the Authority’s acceptance. The plan shall comply with the requirements set by applicable state and federal statutes and regulations, including, without limitation, those relating to affirmative fair marketing. Instructions and forms for tenant-selection plans are on the Authority’s website.

B-3. Management Plan, Management Agreement and Management Agent

An owner receiving Authority financing for a multifamily housing development must have a management agent, management agreement and management plan that have been accepted by the Authority. If no Authority financing is provided, a management plan or agreement is not required.

(a) Management Plan

The management plan shall describe fully and accurately the proposal for the management of the multifamily rental housing development and shall set forth all material circumstances or features affecting the multifamily rental housing development. The management plan shall not be effective until accepted by the owner and approved in writing by the Authority. The management plan

shall be incorporated into the management agreement. The management plan shall include: (i) a tenant-selection plan; (ii) the relationship between the management agent and the owner, including any identity of interest; personal or family relationships; other property management relationships; and any other relationships, whether presently or previously existing; and the management agent's previous management experience with multifamily rental housing developments; (iii) a comprehensive description of the policies and procedures to be followed in the management of multifamily rental housing development, including relating to affirmative fair marketing; and (iv) other documents and matters deemed necessary by the Authority.

(b) Management Agreement

The management agreement shall set forth all of the terms, conditions, covenants, and agreements between the owner and the management agent concerning the management of the multifamily rental housing development. The management agreement shall not be effective until executed by the owner and the management agent and accepted in writing by the Authority. Management agent's duties and responsibilities shall be detailed in the management agreement.

(c) Management Agent

- (1) The selection of a proposed management agent shall be subject to the prior approval of the Authority on an individual property basis.
- (2) All changes in management agents shall require the prior written approval of the Authority. If any multifamily rental housing development financed by an Authority multifamily mortgage loan is without a management agent approved by the Authority, the Authority may unilaterally appoint a management agent to perform such functions as are required by the Authority until such time as the owner/mortgagor of the multifamily rental housing development shall appoint a management agent approved in writing by the Authority.
- (3) Compensation to the management agent for performance of its responsibilities under the management agreement shall be approved in writing in advance by the Authority.

B-4. Rent Increases

All proposed rent increases for rent restricted units shall be reviewed and accepted by the Authority in writing in advance and shall be subject to all applicable statutory and regulatory requirements.

B-5. Performance Assessment

Asset Management shall perform periodic assessments of management and the physical and financial condition of each multifamily rental housing development. The Authority shall determine the level of performance of each multifamily rental housing development based on these assessments.

B-6. Escrow Reserve Release Process

(a) The Authority shall approve the release of funds from any escrow accounts held by the Authority subject to mortgage and regulatory requirements.

(b) If escrow funds to be released are to be applied to capital improvements or repair/replacement work, then the work must be completed in accordance with all applicable building codes, State of Connecticut regulations and the Authority's Standards of Design and Construction. The scope of the Authority's review prior to the approval of any release of escrow funds will be determined by the type of work proposed.

(c) If a property is in default or non-compliance, the Authority may deny a request for release of funds from any escrow account. The Authority reserves the right to deny any request for release from any escrow account where information or documentation does not meet Authority requirements.

B-7. Capital Needs

Throughout the operating period, mortgagors/owners shall be required to evaluate the capital needs of the property, to be proactive in identifying capital improvements needed and to anticipate making adjustments to the reserve for replacement escrow account in order to fund such capital improvements. The Authority may, from time to time, require a capital needs assessment report prepared by an acceptable third-party provider in a format approved by the Authority.

B.8. Low Income Housing Tax Credit ("LIHTC") Program – Post Year 15 Compliance

The Authority maintains a Post Year 15 Compliance Monitoring Policy for properties allocated LIHTCs by the Authority. The purpose is to ensure compliance with owner obligations set forth in the Extended Low-Income Housing Commitment ("ELIHC") for the multifamily rental housing development, prepared by the Authority. All property owners must comply with all requirements of the LIHTC Program through the expiration date of the ELIHC. CHFA reserves the right to enforce these requirements whether by legal or other equitable action.

Rental Housing
Multifamily Asset Management
Revised: 7/25/2024
Adopted: TBD

C. SPECIAL PROGRAMS

C-1. Small or Emergency Loan Program

(a) The Small or Emergency Loan Program may be offered by the Authority to provide financial assistance to Private Portfolio and State-Sponsored Housing Portfolio owners of multifamily rental housing developments consistent with the purposes of these Procedures and subject to available Authority funding. Such financial assistance may include newly advanced, forgiven or forborne mortgage loan principal and/or interest. Small or Emergency Loans shall be available to owners of existing affordable multifamily rental housing developments through a streamlined application approval process and shall be reviewed and approved by an Authority staffed committee designated by the Executive Director. All approved loans shall be reported to the Authority's Board of Directors.

(b) Staff responds to inquiries for financing through the Small or Emergency Loan Program. If the applicant is eligible for this program, an application package is provided to the applicant to be completed and returned to the Authority for processing. In the case of financial assistance made for repairs and/or improvements, a written proposal from a contractor for the small and/or emergency repairs must be submitted to and approved by the Authority staff as part of the application process. The applicant is notified of approval or disapproval by the Authority. If the loan is approved, the loan is closed and loan proceeds are disbursed as determined by the Authority.

(c) Limitations for financial assistance provided under the Small or Emergency Loan Program shall be set by the Authority's Board of Directors.

C-2. Preservation of Housing Affordability Program

(a) Consistent with the Authority's Board of Director's Preservation of Housing Affordability Policy Statement, as adopted from time to time, the purpose of this program is to provide funding to assist in the preservation of the affordability and the sustainability of affordable multifamily rental housing developments.

C-3. Multifamily Debt Restructuring Program

(a) The Multifamily Debt Restructuring Program shall establish criteria from time to time by which the Authority may assist multifamily rental housing developments to achieve financial stability in accordance with its statutory mandate and financial obligations.

(b) The Authority shall not restructure any loan unless it is determined by the Authority, in its discretion, to be in the best interest of the Authority and in compliance with these Procedures. In connection with any such restructure, and provided the Authority has received a restructure proposal deemed by the Authority to be consistent with the purposes of this Section and these Procedures, the Executive Director may extend any existing loan maturity for a period not to exceed 12 months.

(c) These Procedures create no right or entitlement in any mortgagor to a restructuring of the Authority's existing financial assistance, and the Authority shall not be prevented from

exercising any of its rights under existing loan documents by reason of a request for a mortgage restructuring in accordance with these Procedures.

(d) Any mortgagor of a multifamily rental housing development in the Authority's portfolio which is experiencing financial distress may contact the Authority to request its assistance.

Rental Housing
Multifamily Asset Management – Special Programs
Revised: 7/25/2024
Adopted: TBD

IV

TAX CREDIT PROGRAMS

A. LOW-INCOME HOUSING TAX CREDIT

The Connecticut Housing Finance Authority (the “Authority” or “CHFA”) administers the federal Low-Income Housing Tax Credit (“LIHTC”) Program for the State of Connecticut (the “State”). The LIHTC Program is a housing program authorized under Section 42 of the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), and is administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury. These Procedures govern the allocation, reservation and the compliance monitoring required by the LIHTC Program. In order to administer the LIHTC Program, CHFA has established additional governing materials as described in the Authority’s Qualified Allocation Plan (as adopted from time to time, the “QAP”). The Authority’s Board of Directors has full discretion to independently review and decline to award any LIHTC application in accordance with the QAP.

A-1. LIHTC Allocation

The 9% LIHTC allocation process shall be as set forth in the QAP and may be conducted on the basis of a competitive annual funding round. Generally, the 4% LIHTC funding allocation process may be conducted on the basis of an open application process, *provided, however*, a Notice of Funding Availability (“NOFA”) may be issued for competitive allocations, unless otherwise specified, subject to policy objectives and administrative requirements of the Authority. The Authority’s Executive Director, or other authorized officer, shall establish a schedule for LIHTC funding rounds. LIHTC applications shall be accepted subject to published deadlines and/or the 9% LIHTC funding allocation process. All LIHTC applications shall be evaluated and rated in accordance with the QAP in effect at the time of application submission.

(a) Application Resubmissions. Any applicant whose LIHTC application is unsuccessful in a funding round may resubmit that application in a subsequent funding round. The completed resubmitted application must satisfy the requirements established in the applicable QAP. An application fee shall be required for each 9% application submission. If a resubmitted application is unsuccessful, any subsequent application contemplated must include material improvements, as determined by CHFA in its sole discretion.

(b) Forward Allocations. 9% LIHTC allocations in any calendar year will be limited to the LIHTC State housing credit ceiling for that calendar year, as determined in accordance with the Code (as amended), *provided, however*, with the approval of the Authority’s Board of Directors, the Authority may make awards or reservations for the purpose of forward allocations from future year LIHTC State housing credit ceilings.

A-2. Qualified Allocation Plan

The LIHTC Program requires each state responsible for allocating the LIHTCs to approve a plan for the allocation of the credits that is relevant to that state’s housing needs and is consistent with

that state's housing priorities. The QAP is the plan for the State that establishes guidelines and procedures for the acceptance, scoring and competitive ranking of LIHTC applications for each funding round.

The QAP is reviewed and modified periodically to ensure that it continues to meet the affordable housing needs and the priorities of CHFA and the State and to incorporate any revisions to the Code, State regulations, and relevant industry best practices.

When changes are proposed for an existing QAP, the Authority shall publish a draft QAP reflecting such changes and shall conduct hearing(s) to allow for public review and comment. After consideration of all comments received during the public review period, the Authority's staff shall submit a recommended draft QAP to the Authority's Board of Directors for its consideration and approval. After the draft QAP is approved by the Authority's Board of Director's, the QAP shall be forwarded to the Governor for approval.

A-3. Submission and Eligibility

A ConApp (as defined in these Procedures) shall be completed and submitted by an applicant seeking LIHTCs. Unless otherwise specified herein, reference to "LIHTC" application shall mean 4% and/or 9% LIHTC applications. Each LIHTC application shall be evaluated pursuant to the QAP in effect on the date of application and the Code. The completed application package must satisfy the requirements set forth in the QAP (the "Basic Threshold Requirements") and the policy objectives and administrative requirements of the Authority. In addition to the administrative requirements and the Code, 4% tax credit applications may also be subject to requirements published in a NOFA.

The determination of whether the applicant has satisfied all eligibility criteria, the policy objectives and administrative requirements of the Authority shall be made by the Authority's Executive Director or other authorized officer. The Authority's Executive Director, or other authorized officer, may require or accept additional or alternative evidence that an application satisfies all eligible criteria when it is in the public interest of the Authority, the LIHTC Program, and the housing plans or policies of the State, in their sole discretion.

The Authority requires that LIHTC developments submitted are ready to proceed and anticipates that such developments will achieve projected benchmarks. To that end, the Authority will consider the success of each Applicant in achieving LIHTC Program benchmarks and delivering completed developments in determining its capacity to undertake new projects given its existing pipeline. The process for such consideration may be discussed with each applicant prior to the time of application.

All Applicants shall be required to attend a pre-application conference with Authority staff. Additional information on this process may be found in the Guidelines.

A-4. Processing

Applications must be complete in the Authority's sole determination before a Authority financing proposal may be considered for approval. Upon receipt of a 9% LIHTC application submitted on or before the applicable deadline, staff will determine if it satisfies the required application criteria set forth in the QAP. Any 9% LIHTC application received by the Authority after the application deadline or determined to be incomplete shall be declined. The Authority reserves the right to seek clarification, if necessary. Upon receipt of a 4% LIHTC application, the Authority shall determine if it satisfies the Basic Threshold Requirements in accordance with the QAP.

CHFA shall complete a final determination of program eligibility based on its final underwriting projections prior to initial closing. CHFA reserves the right to re-evaluate LIHTC Program eligibility at any time.

A-5. Site Evaluation

The Authority's staff or a designated third party shall conduct a site evaluation to determine if the proposed development site is acceptable and satisfies the criteria of the QAP.

A-6. Project Selection Criteria and Ranking Procedures

The Authority shall allocate 9% LIHTCs based upon classifications, the selection criteria and application ranking set forth in the QAP.

Applications for 9% LIHTCs will be grouped in an application classification for evaluation as set forth in the QAP. These classifications are used for allocation within a competitive 9% LIHTC round only.

Applications will be evaluated, rated and ranked against the other applications in their respective classifications. The results of the final evaluation and ranking shall be determined solely by the Authority.

In accordance with the Code, as amended, the Authority shall establish a set aside for qualified non-profit applicants, shall determine which applications qualify for that set-aside, and no more than 90% of the State housing credit ceiling for any calendar year shall be allocated to projects that do not include qualified non-profits.

A-7. Tax Credit Reservation

Approved 9% LIHTC applications will receive a reservation of tax credits (each a "Tax Credit Reservation"), which must be executed by the applicant and returned to the Authority within the time period stated therein. The Authority shall determine the amount and timing for remittance of a tax credit servicing fee. A Tax Credit Reservation shall not be deemed an allocation in accordance with the Code.

The 9% LIHTC reservation may be subject to other milestones or conditions set forth in the Tax Credit Reservation. Failure to meet such milestones or conditions may result in the Authority's cancellation of the Tax Credit Reservation.

A-8. Appraisal and Market Study

Neither the Authority-required appraisal, nor the Authority-ordered market study shall be required until after a 9% LIHTC Reservation has been executed. The receipt of the Authority-required appraisal and Authority-ordered market study shall be required prior to the execution of a Carryover (as defined herein) or the issuance of a 42(m) letter. Refer to Procedures Part II Rental Housing with respect to 4% and 9% LIHTC market study and appraisal requirements.

A-9. Reassessment

Following the adoption of resolutions by the Authority's Board of Directors confirming the 9% LIHTC ranking process, an applicant may apply to the Authority to reassess its decisions relating to the acceptance, scoring, or ranking of the application in the funding round. The application for reassessment shall be submitted in a form acceptable to the Authority within ninety (90) days of the Authority's Board of Directors' funding round approval. An application for a reassessment must be accompanied by the applicable fee as noted in the LIHTC guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time (the LIHTC Guidelines"). Decisions regarding reassessments will be considered final and will not be reconsidered. In the event that the application for reassessment results in a change of scoring and an allocation of 9% LIHTCs, the reassessment fee shall be fully refunded. At the discretion of the Authority's Board of Directors, reassessments may result in a forward commitment of 9% LIHTCs in accordance with the current QAP. A successful reassessment will not result in the cancellation of a previously approved reservation.

A-10. Issuing Tax Credit Allocations

For developments with 9% LIHTCs that will not place-in service in the year of reservation, initial allocations will be made upon meeting the requirements set by the Authority and the Code for a carryover allocation agreement ("Carryover"). Final allocations of LIHTCs will be issued by the Authority after a review of the cost certification and a determination of final project costs and sources of funding have been completed. The Authority shall establish a deadline for submission of materials necessary prior to the issuance of a Carryover and failure to meet this deadline may preclude issuance of a Carryover.

A-11. Construction and Cost Certification

All applicants are subject to bidding requirements but may be exempt from having a General Contractor in place at the time of application. The Authority reserves the right to require competitive bidding in order to mitigate and reduce project cost increases from the originally proposed budget. If required, competitive bidding for a General Contractor or project value-engineering shall be completed prior to Board of Directors' approval or issuance of a 42(m) letter.

All LIHTC developments must provide observation reports to the Authority on a current and regular basis, as defined by the Authority in its Construction Guidelines.

The applicant shall submit a cost certification accompanied by a certified public accountant's report in accordance with Section 1.42-17(a)(5) of the Treasury Regulations after substantial completion in order for the final funds disbursement to occur.

The applicant shall submit such information as the Authority deems necessary. The Authority's staff shall review the cost certification and make a preliminary determination that the amount of the LIHTC is necessary and appropriate, in accordance with the Code.

A-12. Compliance Monitoring

All qualified LIHTC developments are subject to review pursuant to the Authority's compliance monitoring procedures established in the QAP and LIHTC Guidelines during the initial LIHTC compliance period and the extended use period.

A-13. Subsidy Layering

At the Authority's election and in accordance with applicable federal law and regulations including, without limitation, guidance from the Department of Housing and Urban Development ("HUD"), the Authority may perform Subsidy Layering Reviews on HUD's behalf for mixed-finance public housing projects and for newly constructed and rehabilitated structures which utilize Project-Based Vouchers in conjunction with LIHTCs. The Authority may charge an administrative fee for performing this service.

Tax Credit Programs
Low Income Housing Tax Credit
Revised: 7/25/2024
Adopted: TBD

C. HOUSING TAX CREDIT CONTRIBUTION PROGRAM

C-1. Introduction

Connecticut General Statutes (“C.G.S.”) Section 8-395, as amended, provides for tax credit vouchers for Business Firms making cash contributions to Nonprofit Corporations that develop, sponsor or manage Housing Programs which benefit Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families. Plans to provide rental or ownership housing opportunities to Low- and Moderate-Income Persons or Families through the ownership, construction, acquisition or rehabilitation of housing for Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families, Workforce Housing, capitalization of a revolving loan fund, or the creation of a workforce housing development project (as defined in C.G.S. Section 8-395(a)(3)) shall individually and collectively herein be referred to as “Housing Program(s).” All statutory terms herein shall have the meanings as set forth in the C.G.S., and all other terms shall have the meanings set forth in the definitions herein.

C-2. Definitions

(a) "Area Median Income" means the area median income, adjusted for family size, as determined yearly by the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development;

(b) "Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families" means person(s) or families whose total household income does not exceed 80% and 100% of Area Median Income, respectively;

(c) "Workforce Housing" means housing that is affordable for Low- and Moderate-Income Persons or Families that include- income wage or salaried workers in the municipalities where they work.

(d) “Authority” means the Connecticut Housing Finance Authority.

C-3. Program Description

(a) The Authority is authorized to administer a system of tax credit vouchers to Business Firms making Contributions to eligible Housing Program(s) which benefit Low- and Moderate-Income Persons or Families, or in the case of Workforce Housing Low- and Moderate- Income Persons or Families that are wage or salaried workers, and which are developed, sponsored or managed by Nonprofit Corporations. The tax credit voucher shall be granted in an amount equal to 100% of the value of the Contribution made. A Business Firm may receive a voucher for a Contribution to a Housing Program, which Contribution may result in the Business Firm having a limited equity interest in such program. No tax credit shall be granted to any Business Firm for any individual Contribution of less than \$250.

(b) Each eligible Nonprofit Corporation may not receive more than an aggregate amount of \$500,000 annually in Contributions for its Housing Program(s).

(c) Eligible costs shall be defined in the Housing Tax Credit Contribution Program (“HTCC”) guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time.

C-4. Nonprofit Corporation Eligibility

To be eligible to participate in this program, the applicant shall demonstrate that it meets the definition of a Nonprofit Corporation above by submitting to the Authority an endorsed Certificate of Incorporation certified by the Secretary of the State, a certification that the Nonprofit Corporation is in existence from the Secretary of the State's Office and a copy of the letter that was issued to the Nonprofit Corporation by the Internal Revenue Service determining that the corporation qualifies as an exempt organization under section 501(c) of the Internal Revenue Code. Nonprofit Corporation must have its articles of incorporation approved by the Executive Director of the Authority.

C-5. Application Process for Nonprofit Corporations

(a) Applications from Nonprofit Corporations for approval of each Housing Program shall be filed on a date determined by the Authority. The time of receipt of an application shall be deemed to be the time of filing.

(b) As part of the application approval process, the Nonprofit Corporation shall be required to furnish the information as required in HTCC guidelines promulgated by the Authority from time to time and any other information deemed appropriate by the Authority.

(c) The Executive Director of the Authority may, at his/her sole discretion, waive any of the non-statutory requirements relating to the documentation which must be submitted to the Authority for participation in the HTCC Program.

Such a waiver may be granted if there is sufficient evidence that:

(1) The literal enforcement of Authority Procedures provides for exceptional difficulty or unusual hardship not caused by the applicant;

(2) The benefit to be gained by the waiver outweighs the detriment which would result from enforcement of the requirement;

(3) The waiver is in harmony with conserving public health, safety, and welfare; and

(4) The waiver is in the best interest of the State of Connecticut.

C-6. Rating and Ranking Process

Information submitted in the tax credit application will be evaluated and ranked according to the following categories, and as further described in the application. The evaluation ranking system categories, as set forth in C.G.S. Section 8-395, and as further described in HTCC Program guidelines and/or application materials promulgated by the Authority from time to time, shall

include the following: (a) readiness of the housing project to be built, (b) use of funds to build or rehabilitate a housing project or to capitalize a revolving loan fund, (c) income targeting benefitting families at or below 25% of Area Median Income, (d) administrative capability of the nonprofit corporation, (e) goals accomplished with respect to prior HTCC awards, (f) use of funds in urban areas and impact on neighborhood revitalization, and (g) the extent to which HTCC tax credit funds are leveraged by other funds.

C-7. Administration of Contributions

(a) Each year, the Authority shall publish the list of Housing Programs of Nonprofit Corporations that will receive tax credit reservations.

(b) Upon notice of tax credit reservation, the Nonprofit Corporation shall have until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published annually to secure Contributions from eligible Business Firms. Failure to meet this deadline will result in unallocated credits becoming available to other eligible applicants, which will have until ninety (90) days after the list of Housing Programs is published to secure Contributions from eligible Business Firms. Determination of which Housing Program receives the unallocated funds will be made pursuant to ranking score. Should unallocated funds remain available after ninety (90) days, an extension may be granted at the Authority's discretion.

(c) Until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published each year, \$2,000,000 of the total amount of all tax credits available in any one fiscal year shall be set aside for permanent supportive housing initiatives established pursuant to C.G.S. Section 17a – 485c, as amended.

(d) Until sixty (60) days after the list of Housing Programs is published each year, \$1,000,000 of the total amount of all tax credits available in any one fiscal year shall be set aside for Workforce Housing loan funds.

C-8. Business Firm Eligibility

To be eligible to participate in this program, a Business Firm shall submit an endorsed Certificate of Incorporation and a Certificate of Existence from the Secretary of the State's Office, or equivalent documentation acceptable to the Authority.

C-9. Application Process for Business Firms

(a) Applications for Business Firm Contributions shall be filed annually with the Authority by no later than the timeframe described in section C-7. The time of receipt of an application shall be deemed to be the time of filing. Applications for tax credit vouchers shall be made on forms prescribed and furnished by the Authority.

(b) As part of the application approval process, the Business Firm shall be required to furnish the following:

(1) A list of the Housing Program(s) to which the Business Firm intends to make Contribution(s); and

(2) The amount of the Contribution to be made to each Housing Program.

(c) Applications shall be approved or rejected by the Authority based on the information and documentation required herein, as well as the availability of tax credits.

(d) If the Business Firm application is approved, the Business Firm will be notified, in writing, and given instructions on how to proceed with the Contribution.

(e) If the Business Firm application is rejected, the Business Firm shall be notified, in writing, of the reasons for the rejection.

C-10. Issuance of Tax Credit Vouchers

(a) Tax credit vouchers for Contributions to approved Housing Programs shall be issued in accordance with a ranking system which takes into consideration information provided by the Nonprofit Corporation in its application and the availability of tax credit vouchers.

(b) The Authority shall notify the Business Firm, in writing, that a tax credit voucher will be reserved, contingent upon the Business Firm's submission of a notarized receipt from the Nonprofit Corporation of the Contribution made to the approved Housing Program.

(c) Tax credits shall be processed in accordance with policies established by the Department of Revenue Services.

(d) If a Business Firm is contributing to one or more Housing Programs, the application shall be submitted as a single application and shall provide the information required herein for each Business Firm.

(e) The amount which is proposed to be contributed by a Business Firm to which a credit voucher has been reserved must be contributed by March 31 of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the application for such voucher was filed.

(f) The Business Firm's tax credit must be claimed on the tax return of the Income Year during which the Contribution to the Nonprofit Corporation was made.

C-11. Carryforwards and Carrybacks

Any tax credit not used in the period during which the Contribution was made may be carried forward or backward for the five (5) immediately succeeding or preceding Income Years until the full credit has been allowed.

C-12. Compliance Monitoring

(a) The Nonprofit Corporation shall maintain a segregated account as it pertains to Housing Programs receiving Contributions for which a tax credit voucher(s) has been issued. The Nonprofit Corporation shall maintain complete and accurate books and records, and shall furnish the Authority with financial statements and other reports relating to the operation of the program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(b) Or in the case of a revolving loan fund(s), the Nonprofit Corporation shall establish the revolving loan fund(s) in accordance with the Housing Program subsequent to voucher issuance from the Authority and provide evidence of that establishment to the Authority. Such evidence must include a signed, notarized fund(s) establishment certification or a statement demonstrating the deposit of funds, copies of all documents to be utilized in the administration of the fund(s) and any other information relative to the fund(s) requested by the Authority.

(c) The Nonprofit Corporation must make active, good faith efforts to market its Housing Program and carry out the objectives of the Housing Program, and shall furnish the Authority with marketing materials and other documents relating to the marketing of the Housing Program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(d) The Nonprofit Corporation must also maintain records of account balances, loan activity, fund maintenance, and compliance with the Authority's requirements, and shall furnish the Authority with financial statements and other reports relating to the operation of the program in such detail and at such times as may be required.

(e) Housing Programs projects shall be scheduled for completion not more than three (3) years from the date of approval. Anticipated date of completion shall be documented in the project schedule submitted with the application. In the case of revolving loan funds, 100% of the HTCC funds must be loaned out within three (3) years of the fund's inception. All loan repayments, interest and investment income must be held in the loan fund to be used in accordance with the Housing Program with the exception that qualified entities administering revolving loan funds may offset administrative and overhead expenses by withdrawing from the loan fund earnings from an interest rate spread not to exceed 3%.

(f) Approved Housing Program(s) must submit quarterly progress reports evidencing compliance with the submitted project schedule; or in the case of a revolving loan fund(s), a quarterly report detailing the activity of the revolving loan fund(s) must be provided to the Authority.

(g) Failure to submit quarterly progress reports two (2) or more times in any given calendar year shall result in a loss of points off the subsequent ranking of any and all HTCC project applications by the non-compliant awardee for a period of two (2) consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program.

(h) Housing Programs must demonstrate final completion by submitting to the Authority a signed Certificate of Project Completion ("CC") along with Certificate(s) of Occupancy ("CO"),

Temporary Certificate(s) of Occupancy (“TCO”) or, if applicable, a letter from the local municipal building official indicating that all work performed has been approved by the municipality as of the date of project completion; revolving loan fund(s) must demonstrate final completion by submitting a Certificate of Completion and copies of all relevant loan documents that support the use of the HTCC funds in accordance with CHFA Guidelines.

(i) If an awardee wishes to make a change to a Housing Program plan or budget, such revision requests should be submitted in writing to the Authority for staff review and written approval prior to final completion document submission.

(j) Failure to submit final completion documents, as stated above, to the Authority within three (3) years and ninety (90) days from the date of the Reservation Letter will result in the ineligibility of the awardee in the HTCC Program for a period of two (2) consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program. Awardees that are unable to complete the Housing Program within the required timeframe may submit a written request for an extension to the Authority that explains the extenuating circumstances. The Authority, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to accept or deny any such request. The Authority may deduct points from future applications for awardees that are not able to complete the Housing Program within the required three (3) years.

(k) If an awardee fails to proceed with the Housing Program in accordance with the project schedule or demonstrate that completion occurred within the approved timeframe and in no event later than three (3) years from the date of approval, the remaining funds contributed by Business Firms may be reclaimed by the Authority, such funds shall be redistributed to another Housing Program in the next appropriate funding round and the awardee will be ineligible in the HTCC Program for a period of two consecutive funding rounds of the HTCC Program.

Housing Tax Credit Contribution Program

Revised: 7/25/2024

Adopted: TBD